





Università degli Studi di Palermo INTERNATIONAL PhD COURSE IN IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY

Dean:

ProfessorFrancesco Dieli

Role of exosomes released by Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia in the modulation of tumor microenvironment



PhD Student:

Laura Saieva

Tutor:

Professor Anna Flugy

Supervisor:

Professor Riccardo Alessandro

Contents

Contents	1
Introduction	3
Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia	3
Therapy for Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia	5
Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia and Angiogenesis	6
Exosomes Formation	9
Physical properties and purification of exosomes	11
Molecular composition of exosomes	12
Exosome function	14
Exosomes in Cancer	16
Protumorigenic role of tumor-derived exosomes	16
Antitumorigenic role of tumor-derived exosomes	19
Exosomes and Angiogenesis	20
Exosomes in Immunotherapy	25
AIMS	39
Materials and Methods	41
Cell culture	41
PBMC isolation	41
γδ T cell isolation	42
Exosome isolation	42
30% sucrose/D2O cushion	43
Scanning Electron Microscopy	43
Patients	44
Western blot and immunoprecipitation assay	44
Acetylcholinesterase assay	45
Flow cytometry for VCAM1	45
Flow cytometry of VCAM-1 expression on the surface of latex bead-coupled	
exosomes	45
Flow cytometry for NKG2D, CD69, CD25, IFN γ and TNF α	46
Immunofluorescence and cell cytoskeleton analysis	47
RNA extraction and Real-Time PCR	47
Motility assays	48
Adhesion assay	49
ELISA	49
HUVEC tube formation on Matrigel	49
Matrigel plug assay	50
Statistics	50
Results and Discussion	51
Characterization of the vesicles released from LAMA84, K562 and K562 treated	F 1
with zoledronic acid UML cell lines	51 54
Exosomes treatment of HUVECs induces cen-cen adhesion molecules	54
CML execomes promote migration of andothalial calls	50 60
Excount exponent alters VE and havin and θ retarin localization	60
Exosome treatment atters v E-cadherin and p-catenin localization	02 61
In vino Angiogenesis Assay	04 65
In vivo Aligiogenesis Assay Excommon trigger phosphorylation of MADV $= \frac{42}{44}$	03 66
Exosomes trigger phosphorylation of MAPK p42/44	00

8	
Bibliography	
Conclusion	75
CML exosomes downregulate CD69/CD25 expression	73
Exosomes downregulate NKG2D receptor	72
Tumor exosomes inhibit IFN γ and TNF α release	69

Introduction

Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia

Chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) is a clonal myeloproliferative disorder of the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC). CML makes up approximately 15% to 20% of all cases of leukemia, with an incidence of 1 to 1.5 cases per 100,000 population per year (1). Similar to other myeloproliferative disorders, CML is usually triphasic, having a chronic, an accelerated, and a blast phase (2). In the initial chronic phase, myeloid progenitors and mature cells accumulate in the blood and extramedullary tissues; in half of the patients the disease progresses directly from the chronic to the blastic phase characterized by a maturation arrest in the myeloid or lymphoid lineage (3). The main functional changes that occur with progression of CML are marked changes in proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and adhesion (4). CML is characterized by deregulated proliferation of cells of the myeloid lineage, in which leukemic blasts display a distinctive shortened chromosome, the Philadelphia (ph) chromosome generated from a reciprocal t(9:22) (q34:q11) translocation (5)(Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Reciprocal t(9:22) translocation in Chronic myeloid leukemia generate Philadelphia chromosome

This translocation results in the head-to-tail fusion of the breakpoint cluster region (BCR) gene on chromosome 22 with the ABL proto-oncogene on chromosome 9 (6). The encoded chimeric bcr-abl oncoprotein exhibits constitutively active tyrosine kinase activity as a result of oligomerization of the coiled coil region of p210^{BCR/ABL} (7) and deletion of the inhibitory SH3 domain of ABL (8). This results in the activation of a number of downstream signaling cascades (9). The targets for bcr–abl include members of the Ras, phosphotidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K)/Akt, and Jak/Stat signaling pathways, which regulate cell proliferation and apoptosis. Bcr–abl abrogates cell dependence on external growth factors by upregulating interleukin-3 production and alters the cell adhesion properties by modulating expression and activation of focal adhesion kinase and associated proteins. (10,11). The features of chronic phase CML, expansion and premature circulation of the malignant myeloid population can therefore be explained by activation of mutagenic pathways, antiapoptotic pathways and abnormal cytoskeletal function (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2: Schematic representation of some signal transduction pathways activated by BCR-ABL

These same characteristics, increased mutagenicity and decreased susceptibility to apoptosis ay also be responsible for disease progression (12). Moreover, leukemic progenitors can acquire secondary aberrations that make them able to overcome cell cycle checkpoints and acquire an advantage in growth compared to normal cells and make them resistant to drug therapies.

Therapy for Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia

Since the description of BCR-ABL oncogene, a myriad of treatment options have been explored in CML, including arsenic trioxide, spleenic irradiation, busulphan, hydroxycarbamide. These compounds could only control the proliferation of white blood cells and enlargment of the spleen, but didn't avoid the disease progression to accelerated phase and blast crisis. Most relevant results were obtained with the introduction of therapy with recombinant Interferon- α (rIFN- α), which compared to conventional chemotherapy, is more effective, especially in patients with early chronic phase (13,14). The introduction of rIFN- α induced cytogenetic remission and increased survival (15). The exact mechanisms of action of rIFN- α have not been identified, but it is widely believed that they involve immune response to tumor cells, abnormal expression of adhesion molecules, and induction of tumor cell death (16). In spite of the effectiveness of rIFN- α treatment, however, there are limitations, from poor patient compliance to development of anti–rIFN- α antibody. The only curative approach is stem cell transplantation, however, as the average age of onset is >50 yrs of age, this factor, combined with the inability to identify suitably matched donors in all cases, limits this option to a minority of patients (17). The most exciting breakthrough in the treatment of CML has been the development of Imatinib Mesylate (IM) a selective kinase inhibitor, able to inhibit the activity of constitutive tyrosine kinase activity of Bcr-Abl protein (18). Imatinib acts as a competitive inhibitor of ATP, it binds to the ATP binding site located on ABL and block the action of the tyrosine kinase in an irreversible way. The inhibition of kinase activity of bcr-abl inhibit neoplastic clone proliferation and has a significant effect on haematological and cytogenetics level. However, some patients with an advanced disease develop resistance to Imatinib due to secondary point mutations in the bcr-abl tyrosine kinase domain or due to BCR-ABL gene amplification (19). It has been proposed that the interaction between leukemic cells and the bone marrow microenvironment may play an important role in CML pathogenesis (20). A better understanding of the mechanisms involved in the disease progression may provide information to develop new treatment strategies.

Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia and Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels from an existiting vasculature. It involves degradation of extracellular matrix proteins and activation, proliferation and migration of endothelial cells and pericytes in a multistep process (21). Angiogenesis is mediated by a balance of various positive [eg vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), interleukin-8 (IL-8), transforming growth factors (TGF- α , TGF- β), matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)] and negative [eg platelet factor-4 (PF-4) tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)] angiogenic molecules released by tumor cells (22,23). Tumor angiogenesis is linked to a switch in this balance, and mainly depends on the release by neoplastic cells of growth factors specific for endothelial cells and able to stimulate the growth of the host's blood vessels (24). This complex pathomechanism may comprise a direct stimulation of endothelial cells (paracrine loop) resulting in proliferation, sprouting and release of growth factors and on the other hand, an autocrine stimulation by inhibition of apoptosis and promotion of growth (Fig. 3), finally leading to an expansion of the neoplastic cell clone (25,26).



Fig. 3: Dynamics of angiogenesis in hematological neoplasias: angiogenic factors secreted by neoplastic cells promote cell growth and inhibit apoptosis (autocrine stimulation). On the other side, these angiogenic mediators can also stimulate endothelial cell proliferation and enhance the production and release of hematopoietic growth factors (paracrine stimulation).

Recently, there are evidence that implicates angiogenesis in the growth and progression of CML (27). Lundberg LG et al., have found increased plasma levels of VEGF as well as other angiogenic factors such as FGF-2 and HGF and increased marrow vascularity in patients with CML (28). Bcr-Abl has also been involved in VEGF-mediated angiogenesis in CML and evidence indicates that the formation of new vessels plays an important role in the development and progression of CML. It has been proposed that the interaction between leukemic cells and the bone marrow microenvironment may play an important role in CML pathogenesis (20). An important aspect in the study of CML is the cross-talk between leukemic cells and bone marrow microenvironment. This microenvironment may facilitate tumor progression by the pertubation of CXCR4-SDF1 axis. Kalinkovich et al, have shown that microvesicles isolated from patients with leukaemia contain CXCR4, and these vesicles CXCR4+ are more abundant in leukemic patients compared to healthy individuals (29). CXCR4-SDF1 leads the increase of cytokines as IL8. IL8 stimulates the expression of VEGF, SDF-1 and IL6 in endothelial cells resulting in promoting angiogenesis. Many studies have shown over-expression of IL8 by tumor cells, often induced in response to chemotherapeutic interventions or environmental stresses such as hypoxia. The increased synthesis and secretion of IL8 from tumor cells activate many signalling pathways through the binding of IL8 to two cell-surface G-protein-coupled receptors, CXCR1 and CXCR2 (30,31) in cancer cells, endothelial cells and neutrophils/tumor associated macrophages. Activation of IL8 signalling pathways, through Akt, PKC and MAPK, have been detected in multiple forms of cancer and its role in modulating cell survival, angiogenesis and cell migration have estabilished this kinases as an important therapeutic target in cancer (32). As a consequence of the activation of these signalling pathways, IL8 may affect different cell types within tumor microenvironment. For example, activation of IL8 receptors on endothelial cells is known to promote an angiogenic response, inducing proliferation, survival and migration of vascular endothelial cells (33). IL8 secretion from cancer cells can enhance the proliferation and survival of cancer cells throug autocrine signalling pathway. In addition, tumor-derived IL8 will activate endothelial cells in the tumor vasculature to promote angiogenesis and induce a chemotactic infiltration of neutrophils into tumor site. It is reported also that cell adhesion molecules play an important role in angiogenesis. Adhesion is in part mediated by $\beta 1$ integrins (VLA4 and VLA5) and CD44 expressed on leukemia cells, and the fibronectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM1), expressed on the stromal layer (34). During new capillary development, coordinated signals from both integrins and growth factor receptors

regulate the survival, proliferation and invasion of endothelial cells.

Exosomes Formation

Exosomes are small, 40-100 nm, membrane vesicles of endocytic origin that are secreted by a variety of cell types like B-cells (35), T-cells (37), mast cells (37), DCs (38), platelets (39), neurons (40) and epithelial cells (41) into the extracellular space. They were first described as microvesicles containing 5'-nucleotidase activity secreted by neoplastic cell lines (42). Few years later another group reported secretion of small vesicles of endocytic origin by cultured reticulocytes, and these small vesicles contained the transferrin receptor. Using electron microscopy (EM) they observed these vesicles in late endosomes, and the fusion of these late endosomes with the cell membrane resulted in the release of the vesicles extracellularly (43,44). In addition to cultured cells, exosomes have today further been isolated from a number of body fluids such as plasma (45), urine (46), synovial fluid (47), malignant effusions (48), epididymal fluid (49) and from seminal plasma, in which the vesicles are derived from prostate cells and called prostasomes (50). Exosomes correspond to the intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) of late endosomal compartments called multivesicular bodies (MVBs). These intraluminal vesicles are formed by inward budding of the limiting endosomal membrane and contain cytosol from the cell. MVBs are involved in transporting proteins for degradation in lysosomes. Alternatively, the MVBs can fuse with the plasma membrane leading to the release of the intraluminal vesicles extracellularly which are then called exosomes (35),(44). Proteins and lipids are sorted at the limiting membrane of endosomes during the formation of the intraluminal vesicles and as a consequence the released exosomes will contain molecules reflecting their origin from late endosomes (51). The mechanisms leading to exosome release are unknown. However, the

transmembrane protein TSAP6 has been suggested to be involved in regulating exosome production (52). Furthermore, Rab11, a member of the small GTPase family, together with calcium were shown to be important for the docking and fusion of MVBs with the plasma membrane (53, 54, 55) (fig. 4).



Fig. 4: Mechanism of exosomes release

A machinery responsible for sorting proteins in intraluminal vesicles has recently been identified and called ESCRT (Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport) (56). The ESCRT-0, -I and -II complexes recognize and sequester ubiquitinated proteins in the endosomal membrane, whereas the ESCRT-III complex seems to be responsible for membrane budding (57). The ESCRT proteins are required for the targeting of membrane for lysosomal degradation while the function of the ESCRT machinary in the formation of ILVs that are further secreted as exosomes is not clear. Proteomic analysis of purified exosomes from different sources show an enrichment of ESCRT components and ubiquitinated proteins (58, 59). The expression of the Nedd4 family interacting-protein1, that is associated with elevated levels of protein ubiquitination in exosomes (60), and Alix, a protein associated with ESCRT machinary, is required for the sorting

of the transferrin receptor into exosomes (61). This leads to the hypothesis that ESCRT could be required for exosomal cargo. Lipid rafts has also been suggested to be involved in protein sorting into intraluminal vesicles (62) and typical raft components has been identified on exosomes such as glycolipids, Src tyrosine kinases and cholesterol (62,63). How MVBs discriminate between proteins that are destined for exosomal secretion or lysosomal degradation remains to be determined. In APC, MHC class II are accumulated in MVBs which are called MIICs. These MIICs are the major site for peptide loading, and subsequently exosomes from APC bear peptide-loaded MHC on their surface.

Exosome composition

Physical properties and purification of exosomes

The common procedure to purify exosomes from cell culture supernatants involves a series of centrifugations to remove cells and cell debris. Filtration of the cell-culture supernatant through 0.22- μ m filters, followed by direct high-speed ultracentrifugation (64), reduces the contamination of exosome preparations with larger vesicles that are shed from the plasma membrane. In addition, because exosomes are present in serum it is crucial to avoid contamination with bovine exosomes from the fetal calf serum (FCS) that is used to culture the exosome-producing cells (65). For this reason, serum for culture medium can be depleted from serum exosomes by overnight high speed ultracentrifugation (65,36). To be sure that the isolated vesicles are exosomes must be used other criteria to identify exosomes. Exosomes float on sucrose gradients, and their density ranges from 1.13 g ml⁻¹ to 1.19 g ml⁻¹ (66). Contaminating material, such as protein aggregates or nucleosomal fragments that are released by apoptotic cells, are separated from exosomes by flotation on sucrose gradient (64). Electron microscopy is

11

also used to recognized exosomes by revealing the characteristic "cup-shaped" morphology, a flattened sphere limited by a lipid by-layer (67). These characteristics are consistent with the observed size and morphology of internal vesicles in multivesicular endosomes (68).

Molecular composition of exosomes

The molecular composition of exosomes depending on the cell from which they are secreted and their endosomal origin. Immuno-Electron Microscopy localization studies, Western blot analysis and peptide mass mapping of exosomal proteins from Dendritic Cells (DCs) (64,65), B lymphocytes (68,69), intestinal epithelial cells (41), and other cell types revealed the presence of common as well as cell-type-specific proteins. For example, exosomes from DCs, mast cells and B cells are enriched in MHC class I and MHC class II and express co-stimulatory molecules like CD54 (also called ICAM-1), CD80 and CD86 (66,69), exosomes from T cells bear CD3 (36) and exosomes from cytotoxic T cell contain perforin and granzymes (70), exosomes from reticulocytes contain the transferrin receptor (71). In addition to cell-specific molecules, exosomes also contain common components (Fig. 5)



Fig. 5: Common molecular components of exosomes.

They are enriched in a family of proteins called tetraspanin which are cell-surface proteins that span the membrane four times (69). Tetraspanin proteins are found on the surface of many cell types but also in endosomal compartments. Tetraspanins form complexes by interacting between themselves as well as with a large variety of transmembrane and cytosolic proteins (72). These tetraspanin complexes are located in microdomains, termed TEM domains (tetraspanin-enriched membrane domains) (73). TEM domains are different from rafts and clathrin-coated pits, but share with these structures a specific capacity to facilitate vesicular fusion and/or fission (74,75). Tetraspanins act as 'molecular facilitators', which modulate, stabilize or prevent activities of associated molecules (76). They promote spreading, migration and cable formation by adjusting integrin compartmentalization, internalization, recycling and signalling (77). By regulating protein traffic, tetraspanins become involved in cell adhesion (78), and by modulating biosynthesis of associated molecules, such as MMPs (matrixmetalloproteinases), they may influence invasiveness (79). The main functions are cellular motility, invasion and fusion (80). Examples of tetraspanin proteins found on exosomes are CD9, CD63 and CD81. Exosomes have also been demonstrated to contain heat shock proteins (Hsps) like Hsp70, Hsc70, Hsc73 and Hsp90 (81,65). Heat shock proteins are a family of proteins which act as chaperones to facilitate the folding of protein intracellularly. Hsps can also be secreted and have extracellular functions such as immuno-regulatory activities. Hsps can be both constitutively expressed and be induced by cellular stress. Heat stressed cells have been shown to increase the expression of Hsps on their released exosomes (81). These ubiquitous proteins are involved in antigen presentation, as they can bind antigenic peptides and participate in loading peptides onto MHC molecules (82). MHC class I molecules are also present in exosomes from most cell types. Moreover, exosomes contain cytoskeleton proteins like

actin, tubulin and moesin, ESCRT proteins like Tsg101 and alix and proteins involved in intracellular membrane fusions and transports and fusion like Rab proteins and annexins (64,83). They also include molecules that are involved in signal transduction (such as protein kinases, 14-3-3 and heterotrimeric G proteins) and various metabolic enzymes (such as peroxidases, pyruvate and lipid kinases, and enolase-1). Furthermore, exosomes express CD55 and CD59 which have been shown to protect them from complement lysis (84) suggesting them to be stable in vivo. Exosomes also contain proteins that are involved in specific cell functions. Exosomes from antigen-presenting cells (APCs) have been analysed in most detail. MHC class II molecules are very abundant in exosomes from all cells that express MHC class II. Exosomes from DCs also contain CD86, which is an important co-stimulatory molecule for T cells. T-cell receptors are also specifically enriched on T-cell-derived exosomes. Exosomes contain a series of cell-specific transmembrane proteins including α - and β -chains of integrins (such as αM on DCs, $\beta 2$ on DCs and T cells, and $\alpha 4\beta 1$ on reticulocytes), immunoglobulin-family members (such as intercellularadhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1)/CD54 on B cells, A33 antigen on enterocytes and P-selectin on platelets) or cell-surface peptidases (such as dipeptidylpeptidase IV/CD26 on enterocytes and aminopeptidase N/CD13on mastocytes).

Milk-fat-globule EGF-factor VIII(MFGE8)/lactadherin (85), a milk-fat-globule protein that is expressed by DCs and some tumour-cell lines, was found very abundant in exosomes that are produced by these cells (65). These proteins probably 'address' exosomes to target cells.

Exosome function

Exosomes have been suggested to participate in different physiological and/or

pathological processes within the extracellular space and in biological fluids (e.g. urine, serum,) (86,87,88). Exosomes functionality seems to be determined by cell-type specific proteins that reflect the specialized function of their original cells. When exosomes were initially discovered from reticulocytes, they were shown to function as a way of removing unnecessary proteins such as the transferrin receptor during the maturation process of reticulocytes into erythrocytes (89). Another function of exosomes that was later described is as cell free messengers, which can be released from one cell and have an effect on another one. This communication with other cells may occur either in the microenvironment, or over a distance (90). Since exosomes have been found in blood plasma (45), they may be transported between organs via the systemic circulation. How this interaction occurs between exosomes and cells is not fully known. However, several mechanisms describing the interactions of exosomes and cells have been hypothesized. Exosomes can bind to cells through receptor-ligand interactions, similar to cell to cell communication, mediating for example antigen presentation (35,91). Clayton et al. showed that B cell exosomes express functional integrins, which are capable of mediating adhesion to extracellular matrix components and activated fibroblasts. This adhesion was strong and resulted in an increase in intracellular calcium concentration (92). Alternatively, exosomes can attach to or fuse with the target cell membrane, thus delivering exosomal surface proteins and perhaps cytoplasm to the recipient cell (93). MHCII positive exosomes have been shown to be attached to follicular DCs. These cells do not express MHCII themselves, and the exosomes provide them with new properties (93). Finally, exosomes may be internalized by the recipient cells due to mechanisms such as endocytosis. Immature DCs have been shown to internalize and process exosomes for antigen presentation to CD4+ T cells (94). Later this was also shown for the integrin $\alpha 4\beta 1$ which was down

regulated from the red blood cell surface and instead found on the surface of released exosomes, and in addition this made the exosomes able to bind to fibrinonectin (95). Through their ability to bind target cells, they are likely to modulate selected cellular activities such as vascular homeostasis, and participate in the signaling events contributing to antigen presentation to T cells (35) and the development of tolerance (96).

Exosomes in Cancer

Cancer cells begin to mould their stromal environment starting at early phases of the neoplastic process mainly by pathways involving cell-to-cell contact and the release of soluble factors, as TNF α , TGF β , VEGF, that are able to influence the recruitment of different cell types (e.g. myeloid cells, hematopoietic progenitors cells). Recently, an alternative novel mechanism involves the active release by tumor cells of exosomes. Tumor exosomes, seem to have dual functions with completely opposite effects, either they can activate or suppress immune response against cancer.

Protumorigenic role of tumor-derived exosomes

Tumor-derived exosomes have been implicated in facilitating tumor invasion and metastasis. By stimulating angiogenesis, modulating factors released by stromal cells, and remodelling extracellular matrix, tumor-derived exosomes have been found to contribute to the establishment of a premetastatic niche, generating a suitable microenvironment in distant metastatic sites (97). Exosomes can increase extracellular matrix degradation and augment tumor invasion into the stroma (98,99). It was suggested that CD44 is required for the assembly of a soluble matrix that, in cooperation with exosomes, promotes leukocyte, stroma, and endothelial cell activation

in the (pre)metastatic organ. Tumor-derived exosomes may also transport apoptosis inhibitory proteins, induced under stress conditions, to promote tumor survival. For example, survivin, a member of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein family, can be absorbed by cancer cells from extracellular media and inhibit their apoptosis following genotoxic stress as well as increase their replicative and metastatic ability (100). Another pronounced effect of tumor-derived exosomes is their ability to modulate the function of stromal cells such as fibroblasts. It was recently shown that exosomes shed by prostate, colorectal and breast cancer cells lines contain TGF- β on their surface in association with betaglycan and can trigger SMAD-dependent signaling. Exosomal delivery of TGF- β is capable of driving the differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts, whose enrichment in solid tumor represents an altered stroma that supports tumor growth, vascularization, and metastasis (101). These observations suggest a protumorigenic role of tumor-exosomal TGF- β in addition to their immunosuppressive functions. However, it was also noted that TGF- β is not universally present on exosomes derived from all cancer cells. Tumor-derived exosomes were shown to directly suppress the activity of effector T cells. Exosomes from melanoma and colorectal cancer cells express death ligand such as FasL and TRAIL, both of which can trigger the apoptotic death of activated T cells (102,103). Furthermore, ovarian tumor derived exosomes are able to down-modulate CD3- ζ chain expression and impair TCR signaling (103,104), suggesting that tumor-derived exosomes can also downregulate T cell function in addition to direct killing. In addition, NKG2D dependent cytotoxicity of NK cells and CD8+ T cells was inhibited by NKG2D ligandcontaining exosomes derived from human breast cancer and mesothelioma cell lines (105,106). Similarly, murine mammary carcinoma exosomes were shown to promote tumor growth in vivo by suppressing NK cell function (107). These observations

17

suggest that tumor-derived exosomes can negatively regulate immune system, in particular T cells and NK cells. In addition, tumor-derived exosomes can also support the function of regulatory T (Treg) cells. Mesothelioma and prostate-derived exosomes were found to selectively impair the IL-2 response to cytotoxic effector cells while supporting Treg cell activities through a TGF- β -dependent mechanism (108). Exosomes from sera of patients with head and neck cancer were also reported to induce, expand, and upregulate the suppressor functions of human Treg cells as well as enhance their resistance to apoptosis via a TGF- β - and IL-10-dependent mechanism (109) (Fig. 6)



Fig. 6: The protumorigenic role of tumor-derived exosomes

Another mechanism that have a role in cell-cell communication within the tumor microenvironment is the intercellular exchange of proteins and genetic materials via exosomes (110). In particular, transport of mRNAs and microRNAs, from tumor cells to neighboring cells could have significant effects on tumorigenesis. It has been suggested

that the ability of exosomes to deliver nucleic acids to distal cells also makes them ideal candidates for gene therapy (111).

Antitumorigenic role of tumor-derived exosomes

Immune responses can be triggered by tumor-derived exosomes that contain tumorspecific antigens and peptide-MHC complexes. Antigens that are commonly present in tumour-derived exosomes include melan-A (112), carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) (113), and mesothelin (108). Immunization of mice with Dendritic cells (DCs) pulsed with cancer cell-derived exosomes demonstrate that it is possible to induce protective antitumour immune responses using cancer-derived exosomes as a source of antigens (114). Similarly, in an *ex vivo* human model system, exosomes taken from malignant effusions proved an effective source of tumour antigens for cross-presentation to CD8+ cytotoxic T cells by DCs (112). Expression of heat shock proteins (such as Hsp70) at the exosome surface is important, not only as a cofactor for efficient receptor-mediated uptake, but also for "danger" signals that trigger DC maturation and that subsequently enhance immunologic activation. Thus, exposing cancer cells to stress may render their exosomes significantly more immunogenic (115). DC have an active role in processing and cross-presenting exosomally delivered antigens, but this immune function depends from cancer exosomes phenotype and the influence of the microenvironment. Exosomes are able to activate also monocytes to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines (116) and activate B cells through CD40L, thereby bypassing the need for CD4+ T cell help (117). Recently, ligands for NK cell-activating receptors on exosomes derived from immature human DCs were shown to promote NK cell activation in vitro. This occured through UL16 binding protein 1, MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence A (MICA) and MICB (which are ligands for NKG2D) on exosomes secreted by DCs from healthy

volunteers or patients with melanoma (118). The ability of these exosomes to activate NK cells was apparently due to the simultaneous presence of the IL-15 receptor α -chain (II-15R α) on the DC-derived exosomes, which could bind to exogenous II-15 and thereby promote NK cell proliferation (119).

In addition to the potential immunostimularoty effects, a proapoptotic function of tumor-derived exosomes directly on tumor cells was also reported. Exosomes from human pancreatic tumor cells were reported to increase Bax and decrease Bcl-2 expression, inducing tumor cells toward apoptotic pathway (120).

Exosomes and Angiogenesis

It has been showed that exosomes are able to alter microenvironment through their protein content. Tumor derived exosomes can contribute to establish an oncogenic niche via delivery of protein, mRNA and miRNA that support angiogenesis, cell proliferation and cell survival (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7: Exosomes alter microenvironment and recipient cells. Exosomes help to establish a metastatic niche to aid tumor growth and tumor metastatis.

Tumor derived exosomes contain several cytokines and growth factors such as tumor necrosis factor TNF- α , IL-1 β , and TGF- β as well as functional receptors like TNFR1 and TfR2 and through these molecules enhance recruitment of hematopoietic and

endothelial precursor cells to enhance neoangiogenesis in the tumor (121). Proteomic analysis of mesothelioma cell-derived exosomes, detected the presence of angiogenic factors that can increase vascular development in tumor microenvironment (122). Hood et al, showed that melanoma-derived exosomes stimulated endothelial signalling important for tissue matrix remodelling and endothelial angiogenesis (123). Recent studies showed that pancreatic tumour-derived exosomes increase matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) secretion and VEGF expression in target cells through the expression of proangiogenic molecules, such as members of the Tetraspanin family, thus promoting neo-angiogenesis even at tumour distant sites (124). Tetraspanins, which are constitutively enriched in exosomes, have been found to contribute to exosomemediated angiogenesis. It was reported that exosomes derived from a pancreatic tumor line over-expressing D6.1A, strongly induced endothelial cell branching in vitro and angiogenesis *in vivo* in a rat model (124). Tumor derived D6.1A stimulates the secretion of matrix metalloproteinase and urokinase-type plasminogen activator, enhances the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in fibroblasts, and upregulates the expression of endothelial growth factor receptor. Exosomal Tspan8 (D6.1A) was found to contribute to the selective recruitment of proteins and mRNA into exosomes, including CD106 and CD49d, both of which were implicated in the binding and internalization of exosomes by endothelial cells. Induction of several angiogenesisrelated genes, including von Willebrand factor, Tspan8, chemokines CXCL5 (C-X-C motif chemokine 5), MIF (macrophage migration inhibitory factor), chemokine receptor CCR1, together with enhanced endothelial cell proliferation, migration sprouting and maturation of endothelial cell progenitors, were seen upon exosome internalisation (125). Circulating exosomes obtained from plasma of glioma patients were positive for the mutant/variant mRNA of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFRvIII), which defines a clinical subtype of glioma. Interestingly, these exosomes display proangiogenic properties, indicating that glioma derived exosomes play a role in initiating angiogenesis (126). Skog et al, showed that these exosomes mediate transfer of mRNA. Transfer of mRNA can modify the translational profile of these cells and promote acquisition of the angiogenic phenotype. Nevertheless, those particles also contain growth factors and proteases and have been shown to stimulate tubule formation in endothelial cells (126). Recently, it has been shown that Delta-like ligand 4, a transmembrane ligand for the Notch family of receptors, is incorporated in exosomes. Notch signaling is a cell-cell signaling pathway that have a role in several biologic processes, such as cell fate determination and differentiation (127), and also it is implicated in vascular development and angiogenesis (128). Delta-like 4 (Dll4) expression is particularly critical for angiogenesis (129), and its expression is restricted to the endothelium of developing vessels and regulate the vessel sprouting and branching (128). Exosomes that have Dll4 can transfer this protein from one cell type to another and incorporate it into the plasma membrane in vitro and in vivo. Dll4containing exosomes increases capillary-like structure formation in vitro and in vivo by a mechanism that implicates the transfer of Delta-like-4 into the endothelium. This suggests that Delta like/Notch pathway does not require direct cell-cell contact to expand its signaling potential on angiogenesis (130). Taraboletti et al, have shown that matrix metalloproteinases contained in exosomes released from endothelial cells are functionally active and lead to endothelial cell invasion and capillary-like formation (131). Owing to the multifunctional protein repertoire transported by tumour exosomes, it could be hypothesized that they may also contribute to the process of stromal remodelling, thus widening the role of these microvesicles in tumour progression and metastasis formation. Exosomes are critical for some pathological disease processes,

then find a strategy of targeting the formation and/or release of exosomes in specific cell types, would represent a novel route of therapeutic intervention.

Exosomes as biomarkers

Exosomes have been shown in physiological and pathological fluids such as bronchoalveolar lavage (132), human plasma (45), malignant and pleural effusions (48,133), urine (46), breast milk (134), human saliva (135), synovial fluid (136) and malignant ovarian ascites. The presence of these bioactive vesicles in plasma and malignant effusions of patients with cancer (48) suggests that exosomes may lead to potential diagnostic biomarkers of disease conditions and play an important role in cancer diagnosis. Most cancers, such as ovarian cancer, are diagnosed at advanced stage and prospects for significant improvement in survival reside in early diagnosis then it is necessary to find non-invasive cancer biomarkers to detect cancer in its early stages. Currently, effective screening protocols are not available, because the classical biomarkers, for example CA125 for ovarian cancer, is thought to be robust only in following the response or progression of the disease, but not as a diagnostic or prognostic marker (137). Thus, it is important to identify additional diagnostic and prognostic markers for this disease. The increased levels of plasma-exosome in patients with advanced disease [e.g., mean 2.85 mg/mL exosomes for lung cancer adenocarcinoma patients compared with 0.77 mg/mL exosomes in the blood of normal volunteers (138)] and the discovery of cancer miRNA profiles in circulating plasmaderived exosome, giving exosomes an attractive biomarker candidate. Because exosomes transport molecules involved in cancer progression they can be used as markers, for example in exosomes may be present cancer-associated antigens not available as soluble molecules within biological fluids, such as the oncofetal glycoprotein-5T4; which is over expressed by epithelial cancers but not shed from the cell surface (139). In a recent study, prostate cancer biomarkers, PCA-3 and TMPRSS2; ERG, were detected in exosomes isolated from the urine of prostate cancer patients (140), and they have been proposed as a possible source of multiple biomarkers of renal disease (46,141) and urological cancer. Exosomes are also an attractive biomarker candidate for bladder cancer. The differentially expressed proteins include psoriasin, kertain-14, galectin-7, epidermal fatty acid binding protein (E-FABP), migration inhibitor factor-related protein (MRP8) and stratifin, which may be useful markers for the diagnosis of bladder cancer (46).

In the past years, the importance of miRNA in cancer cells has been recognized. MicroRNAs, small (22-25 nucleotides in length) noncoding RNAs, suppress the translation of target mRNAs by binding to their 3' untranslated region (142,143). Posttranscriptional silencing of target genes by microRNA can occur either by cleavage of homologous mRNA or by specific inhibition of protein synthesis. A correct control of miRNA expression is essential for cellular processes, such as proliferation, differentation, development and cell death. Valadi et al. reported the presence of mRNA and miRNA in exosomes from mouse and human mast cell lines. Exosomes are able to transport biologically mRNA and miRNA to neighboring cells that confer new functions to the recipient cells (111). These studies highlight the potential of exosomal microRNA profiles for use as diagnostic biomarkers of disease through a non invasive blood test. The expressions of individual microRNAs and specific microRNA signatures have now been linked to the diagnosis and prognosis of many human cancers. A possible obstacle in body fluid based exosome analysis is the presence of contaminating exosomes secreted by normal cells (e.g., normal ovarian cells as compared to ovarian cancer cells). To discriminate two population of exosomes can be used specific purification strategy, as a magnetic bead immune capture technique was employed to isolate circulating epithelial cell adhesion molecule-positive exosomes from the plasma of ovarian cancer and lung cancer (Fig.).



Fig. 8: Circulating exosomes can be a rich source for identifying potential biomarkers. Patient plasma contains exosomes that are released by disease cells (e.g., colorectal cancer cells), normal counterpart (e.g., normal colon cells) and other normal cells (e.g., liver). Exosomal tissue signatures can be used to isolate disease cell-derived exosomes for proteomic and transcriptomic profiling.

Currently, a major goal is to identify disease biomarkers in biological fluids, in a noninvasive manner, that can be measured relatively inexpensively for early diagnosis of disease and treatment success.

Exosomes in Immunotherapy

The first antitumor effects of exosomes was demonstrated by Zitvogel et al, they showed that exosomes from DCs pulsed with tumor peptides could prime a specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTLs) *in vivo* and suppress growth of established tumors when injected into mice (38,144). Particularly in combination with TLR 3 and 9 ligands, exosomes efficiently induced anti-tumor responses in mice (145). These promising

results in mice led to the development of techniques for the clinical testing of tumor antigen loaded DC exosomes in human advanced cancer patients (66).

When dendritic cells are pulsed with cancer antigens or tumor peptides (38) dendritic cell-derived exosomes (DEX) has been shown to elicit stronger immune responses toward cancer cells (146) with up-regulation of specific antibody release and cytokine production (147). Furthermore, it has also been reported that DEX trigger NK cells in the immune response toward cancer cells via NKG2D-dependent NK cell activation and IL-15R α -dependent cell proliferation (119).

Some clinical trials have been performed in humans with advanced staged melanoma and non small cell lung cancer. Patients were treated with tumor peptide loaded DC exosomes and the outcome was promising. The treatment was well tolerated and some patients showed long term stability of the disease (148,149) (Fig. 9).



Fig. 9: Clinical grade exosomes in immunotherapy. The process of how DEX can be derived, purified, and utilized in cancer treatment. Creative Commons. Reproduced with permission from Escudier B, Dorval T, Chaput N, et al. Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous dendritic cell (DC) derived-exosomes: results of the first phase I clinical trial. *J Transl Med.* 2005;3(1):10.

Although it has been established from the results in clinical trials that exosomes can be safely administered, it is necessary to increase their potency to elicit appropriate immune A phase II clinical trial is planned to follow-up the initial positive results (150). responses to kill cancer cells. Different strategies have been applied to increase the immunogenicity of exosomes, for example the addition of adjuvant such as double stranded RNA or CpG (150). Another strategy that has been tested is the modulation of the exosome composition. Exosomes from mature DC have been shown to be more immunogenic than those from immature DC (151). Recent evidence suggests that a new strategy is represented by artificially coating and engineering exosomes (152) with tumor antigens to make it more recognizable to the immune system. It has been experimentally demonstrated that using nanotechnology, exosomes can be engineered to bear an optimal number of MHC I and ligands that would activate T cells, and their *in vivo* activity can be traced by encapsulating superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (153). Exosomes can also carry cytokines, DNA, RNA, adjuvants, labels, costimulatory signals, and gene therapy vectors, which makes it ideal to develop new immunotherapy strategies.

Immune system and tumor

The immune system is essential in tumor progression modulation and elimination of cancer cells. Immune cells, from both the innate and adaptive immune systems, are able to recognize, attack, and kill tumor cells in various ways. They collaborate and stimulate each other (e.g. with IFN- γ) to induce a potent immune response against the tumor cells. However, cancer still occurs. Tumor cells are able to fight back or hide from the immune system. The interaction between tumor and immune system consist of three phases and is known as cancer immunoediting (154). During the first phase (the elimination or cancer immunosurveillance phase) the immune system is able to protect the host from a developing tumor. However, some transformed cells may escape the immunological pressure, thereby entering the second phase (the equilibrium phase). During this period of immune-mediated latency, the tumor persists and acquires new mutations. This may allow the tumor to enter the third phase (tumor escape) during which established tumors become clinically manifest (155).

The innate immune system provides the first line of immediate defense and includes natural killer (NK) cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and dendritic cells. NK cells are able to discriminate between self and non-self. The first activating signal for NK cells is a loss of MHC class I molecules on the surface of cancer cells (156). MHC class I molecules act as an inhibitory signal for NK cells, thus making MHC class I lacking tumor cells a target for NK cells. NK cells use their large repertoire of inhibitory and activating receptors to detect the transformed-self. Many tumor cells express activating NK ligands (like MICA and MICB) recognized by NKG2D and are thus efficiently eliminated by NK cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells (157). Tumors express antigens that are recognized as foreign by the immune system of the tumor-bearing host. The immunogenicity of tumors implies that tumor cells express antigens that are recognized

as foreign by the adaptive immune system. These tumor antigens, presented on the surface of antigen presenting cell (APCs), are recognized by T lymphocytes cells and leading to a tumor specific reaction. To mount an adaptive immune response, two signals are mandatory. The first signal is provided by the presentation of an antigen in the groove of an MHC molecule to the T cell receptor (TCR). The second signal is provided by the ligation of co-stimulatory molecules (the most important being CD28 on T cells interacting with CD80 and CD86 on the APCs (158). These two signals activate the adaptive system to recognize and kill tumor cells. After successful recognition of the tumor cell by innate and adaptive effector cells, cytotoxic T lymphocytes, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and NK cells both utilise a pore-forming protein, perforin, and a battery of serine proteases (granzymes) that activate caspases, leading to apoptosis. The apoptotic program can also be activated after binding of TRAIL or Fas-ligand, expressed on the cell surface of the effector cell, to one of its cognate receptors. These lymphocytes are able to kill tumor cells via cytokines, such as IFN γ , TNF α and TNF β . Tumor cells have developed numerous strategies to change their phenotype and mislead the immune system. Tumor cells can change their cell surface phenotype to prevent recognition and binding by immune effector cells. The most wellknown example of this strategy is the downregulation of MHC class I molecules (or molecules involved in antigen processing by MHC class I molecules) resulting in defective binding to the TCR of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells (159,160). However, downregulation of MHC class I renders cells susceptible for NK cell mediated killing. Consequently, tumor cells have also developed mechanisms to escape from NK surveillance: for example upregulation of the NK inhibitory HLA-G3 (161). Other strategies are the down-modulation of costimulatory molecules or upregulation of pro-apoptotic molecules like FAS-ligand on their cell surface to induce apoptosis of effector cells (162). Another strategy is to

prevent the pro-apoptotic signals after effective recognition and binding of immune cells. An example of this evasion of immune mediated killing is to downregulate proapoptotic death receptors or to upregulate anti-apoptotic or decoy receptors (for example TRAIL-R3). Over-expression of anti-apoptotic proteins, like XIAP (X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis) (163,164) or molecules that block the granzyme B/perforin pathway like (pI-9)(165) are other examples. The third way, is to produce immune suppressive factors that inhibit T cell function and lead to a local state of tolerance and anergy. Examples of this strategy are the production of transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β)(166), or indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO)(167) or IL-10.

Recently, mounting evidence is indeed pointing to exosomes as major participants in immune evasion with several mechanisms. Among the earliest reports there is a description of melanoma-derived exosomes that were lethal to T cells (102). These cancer cells naturally express Fas ligand, and may expel by the multivesicular endosomal route at least a proportion of this molecule in exosomes. FasL-bearing exosomes, upon encountering activated (Fas-positive) T cells, can essentially crosslink T cell Fas and trigger apoptotic death (102). Other influences of exosomally expressed members of the tumour necrosis factor superfamily may include downmodulation by ovarian cancer exosomes of the CD3-ζ chain. This molecule is an integral component of the TCR complex, which is essential for competent signalling after TCR-MHC-peptide interactions (168). Melanoma exosomes expressing TNF-α may also affect the CD3-TCR complex in a reactive oxygen species-mediated manner (169). Thus, cancer exosomes can exert drastic effects on T-cell functions and may constitute an important mechanism by which tumours eliminate activated T cells that may recognize and kill them (102). Other death-independent effects of cancer exosomes on the immune system have been reported. Liu et al., for example, pretreated mice with breast cancer exosomes before implanting tumours and documented accelerated tumour growth (170). This accelerated growth was result of the negative influence of cancer exosomes on NK cell functions, inhibiting NK cell proliferation and impairing cytotoxic functions. Other studies showed that exosomes from cervical cancer harbor NKG2D ligand such as MICA*008 or ULBP3 proteins, which suppress Natural Killer cell toxicity (171).

Thus, tumor exosomes bearing NKG2D ligands can act on effector cells to down regulate NKG2D, impairing part of the immune response (106). In addition to NKG2D ligands, it was shown that tumor exosomes carry and express growth factors such as TGF β 1. Membrane-bound TGF β 1 on these vesicles displays the same function as NKG2D ligands i.e. the down regulation of surface NKG2D expression by NK cells and CD8+T cells following a direct interaction between exosomes and cells. Tumor-derived exosomes promote other immune escape mechanisms by triggering myeloid suppressive cells proliferation (MDSC). These cells are found in large number in lymphoid organs, blood and tumor tissues in cancer patients and are immature myeloid cells. These cells express myeloid marker stimulatory molecules (CD14 and CD11b) and are devoid of co-stimulatory molecules (HLA DR, CD80, CD86). They spontaneously secret TGF β and have suppressive activity on activated T lymphocytes since they are able to inhibit T cells proliferation and cytolytic functions (172). It was shown that melanoma and colorectal carcinoma derived exosomes altered the monocyte differentiation into dendritic cells, leading to the generation of myeloid suppressive cells (172). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that MDSC-mediated promotion of tumor progression was dependent on TGF- β present on exosomes, but also depended upon the lipidic mediator prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) transported by tumor exosomes (173) (Fig. 10). These pleiotropic effects lead to hypothesize that interfering with exosome release by tumour cells may perhaps represent a novel strategy for simultaneously recovering

multiple immune functions in cancer patients, then the knowledge on the immune evasion mechanism exosomes-mediated could help for developing a successful, multilevel and multi-target anti-cancer therapy.



Fig. 10: Inhibitory functions of exosomes derived from tumor cells. Inhibition of T cell activation, inhibition of NK cell and CD8+ T cell cytotoxicity, promotion of regulatory T cell activity, inhibition of monocyte differentiation into DCs and promotion of monocyte differentiation into myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), T cell killing through ligation of CD95 by CD95 ligand (CD95L)

γδ T cells

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells are innate effector cells able to act as firs-line defense against tumors and infections, but also to enhance antigen-specific immune responses mediated by conventional T cells and antibodies. They account for 5–10% of CD3+ peripheral blood T cells but constitute a dominant T-cell fraction at other anatomical sites such as the intestinal epithelia. $\gamma\delta$ T cells differ from conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells in several aspects. $\alpha\beta$ T cells are "conventional" T cells with a T cell receptor (TCR) composed of the higly variable α and β chains. They comprise two subpopulations CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and their activation depends on the interaction with professional APCs, such as dendritic cells. $\gamma\delta$ T cells are "unconventional" T cells that express a TCR composed of the δ and γ chains. Most $\gamma\delta$ T cells lack CD4 or CD8 antigens and hence display a "doublenegative" phenotype, although a sizeable fraction expresses CD8 (174). The absence of CD4 or CD8 expression on the majority of circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells is well in line with the lack of MHC restriction in antigen recognition of this T-cell subset. $\gamma\delta T$ cells often show tissue specific localization of oligoclonal subpopulations sharing the same TCR chains (175). For instance, murine skin $\gamma\delta$ T cells, so-called dendritic epidermal T cells (DETCs), are largely $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$ + while in the human peripheral blood, the majority of $\gamma\delta$ T cells express a TCR composed of V γ 9 and the V δ 2 chains (V γ 9/V δ 2 T cells). Similar to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, V γ 9V δ 2 T lymphocytes comprise distinct populations distinguishable on the basis of surface markers, effector functions and trafficking properties. Naive (T_{naive}, CD45RA+CD27+) and central memory (T_{CM}, CD45RA-CD27+) cells home to secondary lymphoid organs and lack immediate effector functions, whereas the socalled effector-memory (T_{EM}, CD45RA–CD27–) and terminally differentiated (T_{EMRA}, CD45RA+CD27-) cells home to sites of inflammation where they display immediate effector functions such as cytokine production and cytotoxicity (176,177). Vy9/V82 T cells recognize through their TCR a set of non-peptidic small molecular compounds in an MHC-independent manner. This interaction is sufficient for their activation and does not require interaction with professional APC. $\gamma\delta$ TCR enables them to recognize families of unprocessed nonpeptide compounds of low molecular weight (100-600 Da) with conserved patterns, comprising natural phosphoesters derived from mycobacteria and other pathogens, referred to as phosphoantigens, and to a lesser extent several ubiquitous metabolites such as alkylamines from plant extracts, xylosyl-or ribosyl-1phosphate, 2,3-diphosphoglycerate and several synthetic aminobisphosphonates (NBPs)(178,179,180,181). The most potent $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cell ligand, (E)-4-hydroxy-3methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate (HMB-PP) is an intermediate metabolite of the microbial non-mevalonate pathway (MEP) of isoprenoid biosynthesis (182,183). Through this particular specificity for microbial molecules, $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells display an anti-microbial immune response (184). After their activation, $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells expand rapidly and secrete different proinflammatory cytokines. These cytokines mediate the activity of other immune cells to eliminate the microbe, such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ) increasing the microbial degradation in macrophages lysosomes. Activated $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells also recognize infected cells and induce their cell death through the secretion of apoptosis-inducing factors such as perforin, granzyme and tumour necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL). Fas-ligand expressed on $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cell membrane can also directly interact with its receptor Fas on target cells and induce apoptosis. $\gamma\delta$ T cells also recognize metabolites of the mevalonate pathway of the isoprenoid biosynthesis, present in all eukaryotic cells. Isopentenylpyrophosphate (IPP) is one prototype of these phosphorylated nonpeptidic ligands. Overproduction of these metabolites may allow $\gamma\delta$ T cells to target cells with deranged metabolic activity of the mevalonate pathway (185). Notably, an increased expression of hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGR), the rate limiting enzyme of the mevalonate pathway, has been reported in hematological malignancies and mammary carcinoma cells (186). Accumulated IPP in tumour cells is suggested to bind the $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ TCR, thus acting as an activation signal, although the mode of recognition of this ligand remains unclear. When activated they release pro-inflammatory chemokines (e.g. MIP-1, RANTES) and T-helper cell type 1 (Th1) cytokines (e.g. IFNy and TNFa), and proliferate in the presence of IL-2. Some hemopoietic tumor cell lines, such as the Daudi Burkitt's lymphoma and the RPMI 8226 myeloma line are spontaneously recognized and lysed by $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells in vitro (187,188). The molecular basis of
such a spontaneous tumor cell recognition has not been fully elucidated yet. One possibility is that tumor cells express induced self ligands like stress-inducible MHC class I-related MICA/MICB molecules, heat shock proteins (HSP), and/or other ligands that are recognized through the $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ TCR or through coreceptors like the NK receptor member D of the lectin-like receptor family (NKG2D)(189). Most tumour cells express ligands for the NKG2D receptor such as the MHC class I chain-related genes (MIC) A/B, and proteins of the UL16-binding protein (ULBP) family (190). These molecules bind to the NKG2D receptor expressed on $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells, acting also as an activation signal (Fig. 11).



Fig. 11: Tumour cell killing capacity of activated $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells. $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells recognize via their TCR isoprenoid metabolites such as IPP that may accumulate in tumour cells. They also recognize via NKG2D stress-induced ligands that are often expressed on tumour cells. Stimulation of either or both receptors activates $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells and leads to tumour cell lysis.

After recognition of these molecules, $\gamma\delta$ T-cells become activated to produce cytokines and eliminate a target cell. Killing is performed via the perforin / granzyme pathway and death-receptor-dependent pathways (180). Upon activation of a cytotoxic lymphocyte, granules containing perforin and granzymes are released in the synaptic cleft between the killer and target cell. Perforin makes pores in endosomes and granzymes enter in the cytoplasm of the target cells and activate apoptosis-pathway (180). There are different death-receptor-dependent pathways involved in the killing of tumor cells (181). The most important death ligands are FasL, TRAIL and TNF. These death domain-containing adaptor molecules start the proteolytic caspase cascade by activating caspase-8 and -3 in the tumor cell, leading to apoptosis. Recently, it has been shown that activated $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells are a novel type of professional APC (191) similarly to DCs, macrophages and B cells. APCs present MHC molecules linked to a endogenous or exogenous peptide on the cell surface and interact with the $\alpha\beta$ TCR of CD8+ T cells and CD4+ T cells. Activated $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells have been shown to present all these functions, these cells efficiently processed and displayed antigens and provide costimulatory signals sufficient for strong induction of naïve $\alpha\beta$ T cell proliferation and differentiation (192). Thus, $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells have the ability to bridge innate and adaptive immune responses.

 $V\gamma 9/V\delta 2$ T cells are important contributors to innate and adaptive immune responses against tumor cells and pathogens, then it is possible to develop a novel strategy for treatment of solid and haematological cancer utilizing the mode of action of $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Bisphosphonates and $\gamma\delta$ T cells

Bisphosphonates (BPs) are synthetic drugs that prevent bone resorption and are used for the treatment of Paget's disease, tumour-associated bone diseases and osteoporosis. Based on their chemical structure, BPs are traditionally divided into two pharmacological classes with distinct molecular mechanisms of action: nitrogencontaining (N-) and non-nitrogen containing (non-N) drugs. Bisphosphonates that lack a nitrogen atom are metabolized into non-hydrolyzable proapoptotic ATP analogues that accumulate in the cytosol of osteoclasts (193). The resulting accumulation of nonhydrolysable analogues of ATP induces osteoclast apoptosis and inhibits bone resorption (194). By contrast, N-BPs interfere with a specific enzyme in the mevalonate pathway, farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase (FPPS), thereby depleting the osteoclasts of isoprenoid lipids (195,196). More specifically, FPPS inhibition by N-BPs blocks the covalent attachment of isoprenyl chains to small GTPases (e.g., Ras, Rac, Rho), which is crucial for their intracellular localization and functions in osteoclasts. In addition to the effects on the function of small GTPases, the disruption of the mevalonate pathway by N-BPs results in the accumulation of isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP), which is then converted to a cytotoxic adenosine triphosphate analogue (ApppI) that can directly induce osteoclast apoptosis (197,198). Thus, N-BPs may exert their pharmacological effects on osteoclasts through the formation of ApppI or via the inhibition of protein prenylation, particularly of small GTPases. Moreover, N-BPs have been tested for a wide range of solid and haematopoietic cancers. In vitro studies show that N-BPs have cytostatic activity against tumor cells, induce apoptosis and also inhibit cell adhesion. Zoledronic acid (ZA) is a newer N-BP with a tertiary amino group included within a ring structure. It can be considered the most potent and widely used intravenous BP that prevent the delayed onset of skeletal related event (SRE) in patients with bone metastases from any type of tumour and also for the treatment of hypercalcemia of malignancy (199,200). ZA is approved for the treatment of patients with bone metastasis from breast cancer, hormone refractory prostate cancer, as well as other solid tumors and multiple myeloma (201). A very interesting property of N-BPs in antitumor immune responses is the ability to activate $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells. Through inhibition of FPPS of the mevalonate pathway, N-BPs trigger the intracellular accumulation of IPP and exerting strong activation of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells. Furthermore, zoledronate induces functional changes in $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cell subsets (202). In vivo, it promotes the differentiation of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells toward CD45RA-CD27- γδ T cells, which produce interferon-γ and exert cytotoxicity,

while decreasing CD45RA+ CD27+ naive and CD45RA-CD27+ memory $\gamma\delta$ T cells (202). This effect is specific to V γ 9V δ 2 T cells. Neither human $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing the V γ 9V δ 1 TCR, nor human $\alpha\beta$ T cells, monocytes, NK or B cells are responsive to N-BPs (202,203).

Previous studies have demonstrated that zoledronate sensitizes chemotherapy-resistant tumor target cells (prostate,breast and lung cancer) to V γ 9V δ 2 T cell cytotoxicity, rendering these cancer cell lines highly susceptible to V γ 9V δ 2 T cell-mediated killing (204). Recently, interest has emerged on the use of zoledronate in CML, because this drug synergistically augments the anti-Ph+ leukaemia activity of imatinib both in vitro and in vivo (205,206), and inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of imatinibresistant CML cells (207). D'Asaro et al. showed that pre-treatment of sensitive and resistant CML cells with zoledronate alone or in combination with imatinib significantly increased killing by V γ 9V δ 2 T lymphocytes (208). They showed also that V γ 9V δ 2 T cells kill cells freshly isolated from patients with CML, at time of diagnosis and before therapy, but exclusively when cells were pretreated with zoledronate alone or in combination with imatinib (208).

The unique ability of bisposphonates to render tumour cells susceptible to $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cell attack makes these drugs particularly interesting candidates for use in $\gamma\delta$ T cell therapy.

AIMS

The overall aims of this project were to assess the release of exosomes by LAMA84 CML cell lines and to elucidate their role in angiogenesis. To evaluate this, I tested if the addition of those exosomes to human vascular endothelial cells (HUVEC) affects several step of in vitro angiogenesis including motility, cytokine production, cell adhesion and cell signalling, as well as stimulation of angiogenesis in a nude mouse assay. To confirm the data obtained with exosomes derived from LAMA84 cells, I used exosomes isolated from blood of CML patients to understand better how CML cells can induce an angiogenic phenotype. Another field of investigation was the study of the effects of exosomes on $\gamma\delta T$ cells. These lymphocytes exhibit a potent MHCunrestricted lytic activity against several tumor cells and are able to kill CML cells pretreated with zoledronic acid. Zoledronic acid is a syntethic aminobiphosphonate that is able to activate $\gamma\delta$ T cells, augments the anti-Ph⁺ leukemia activity of imatinib both *in* vitro and in vivo and inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of imatinib-resistant CML cells. I started to analyze if exosomes from CML cell lines have an activatory or inhibitory effects on these lymphocytes and if zoledronic acid affect the release or the effects of exosomes. The understanding of the mechanism of communication between leukemic cells and the microenvironment and the mechanism by which tumor cells can escape immune system could promote the development of new therapies to overcome drug resistance observed sometimes in the treatment of CML.

The more specific aims were to investigate:

- Detect and characterize microvesicles released from CML cell lines (western blot and enzymatic assays)
- Evaluate the effects of exosomes on endothelial cells (motility, wound healing, adhesion assays)

- Evaluate the effects of exosomes on *in vivo* angiogenesis assay
- Evaluate the effects of exosomes on $\gamma\delta$ T cells functions (cytokines release, NKG2D, CD69 and CD25 expression)
- Evaluate the effect of zoledronic acid on the release and effects of exosomes

Materials and Methods

Cell culture

LAMA84 and K562 chronic myelogenous cells, were cultured in RPMI 1640 (Euroclone UK) supplemented with 10% FBS (Euroclone UK), 2mM L-glutamine (Euroclone UK), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC, Lonza, Clonetics, Verviers, Belgium) were grown in endothelial growth medium (EGM) supplemented with Hydrocortisone, hFGF-B, 2 ml; VEGF, 0.5 ml; R3-IGF-1, 0.5 ml; Ascorbic Acid, 0.5 ml; Heparin, 0.5 ml; FBS, 10 ml; hEGF, 0.5 ml; GA-1000, 0.5 ml. LAMA84 and K562 cells were maintained at concentration of 0,3x10⁶/ml to grown, and were expanded at 1x10⁶/ml to recover exosomes. For treatment with Zoledronic acid (gift from Novartis Pharma, Milan Italy), 5 μ M/ml of the drug was added when K562 cells were seeded for exosomes at concentration of at 1x10⁶/ml. HUVEC cells were cultured in Petri dish, were harvested using trypsin-PBS 1:1 and seeded for the experiment. Cultures are placed in a humidified 95% air and 5% CO2 atmosphere at 37° C.

PBMC isolation

Human blood samples were obtained from healthy donors, after written informed consent was obtained, in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki guidelines and University of Palermo Ethics committee. Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated using the Ficoll-Paque (GE Helthcare-Bio Science, Uppsala, Sweden) separation technique. Whole blood was diluted in RPMI, layered over Ficoll-Paque and centrifuged at $1400 \times g$ for 20 min. The mononuclear cells (interphase layer) were collected, washed twice in complete medium (RPMI 1640 medium, 10% FBS, 1%

penicillin-streptomycin) and finally resuspended in complete medium. PBMC were cultured at concentration of 1×10^6 /ml to recover exosomes.

$\gamma\delta$ T cell isolation

For $\gamma\delta$ T cells isolation, whole blood were taken from healthy donors at Cardiff University, according to the local ethical guidelines on experimentation with human samples. Blood was layered on Lymphoprep (Axis-Shield), and centrifuged at 1700 rpm for 20 min. PBMC were recovered and washed twice with MACS buffer (5mM EDTA; 2%FBS; PBS 1X) and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 10 min and 1000 rpm for 10 min. Pellet was resuspended in 1ml of MACS buffer and was added a blocking IgG antibody (1:100) for 10 min on ice. The cells were staining with V γ 9 PE-Cy5 (1:400) for 15 min on ice. Cells were washed in MACS buffer at 1300 rpm for 8 min and resuspended in 400 µl MACS buffer plus anti-PE microbeads (Milteny) for 15 min in the fridge. Cells were resuspended in 2 ml of MACS buffer and placed onto LS column. After 3 washes with MACS buffer, $\gamma\delta$ T cells were recovered a 15ml falcon tube. $\gamma\delta$ T cells was counted and seeded for all experiment at 50000 cells/well at 37 °C in 5% CO2. Cultures were incubated in 96 well plate overnight in the presence of 10 nM HMB-PP to activate V γ 9/V δ 2 T cells, and 20 U/mL interleukin-2 (IL-2) (Proleukin, Chiron).

Exosome isolation

Exosomes produced by LAMA84, K562 treated with ZA and K562 cells during a 24 hr culture period, were isolated from conditioned culture medium supplemented with 10% FBS (previously ultracentrifuged) by differential centrifugation. Conditioned medium (CM) was recovered after 24h. CM were centrifuged at 300 g x 5', 3000 g x 10', 10000 g x 20'. CM was filtered (0,22 μ m filter) and was ultracentrifuged in "Ultra Clear-Queck

Seal" tubes at 100000 g x1h30'. Pellet was washed and then resuspended in PBS.

30%sucrose/D2O cushion

To further verify the identity of vesicles as exosomes, vesicles were isolated on a 30% sucrose/D2O cushion (density of 1.13–1.19 g/mL), as described by Lamparski et al (66) Exosomes from differential centrifugation method were resuspended in 25 ml of PBS. 4ml of 30%sucrose/D2O was loaded on the bottom of the ultracentrifuge tube and diluited exosomes were layered above the sucrose cushion, gently without disturbing the interface. Samples were ultracentrifuged at 100000xg, 4°C for 75 min in SW 28 rotor. The cushion, which now contains exosomes, was recovered with a 5ml syringe from the side of the tube. The cushion was transferred to a fresh ultracentrifuge tube and were added 40 ml of PBS. Samples were ultracentrifuge at 100000xg 70 min in 70 Ti rotor. Pellet was resuspended in PBS. Exosome protein content was determined by the Bradford method. On average, the amount of exosomes obtained was 100 μ g/40 ml from LAMA84 and K562 conditioned medium and 50 μ g/40 ml from K562 treated with ZA.

Scanning Electron Microscopy

Exosomes were next examined by scanning electron microscopy analysis. They were fixed with 2% glutaraldehyde in PBS for 10 min, attached onto stubs, coated with gold in a sputterer (Sputter Coater 150A, Edwards, UK) and observed using a field emission scanning electron microscope (FEGESEM QUANTA 200 FEI) at working voltage 30 kV.

Patients

Blood samples were obtained from two newly diagnosed CML patients. Informed consent was obtained from patients, according to the Declaration of Helsinki and with hospital Ethics Committee approval. Whole blood samples were treated with red blood cell lysing buffer (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) for 2 min at room temperature, then centrifuged at 350g for 7 min to recover and discard lysed red cells. The interphase layer containing CML cells was collected, resuspended in PBS and lysated for controls. Exosomes released in fresh patient's plasma were prepared with the same protocol of CML cell lines.

Western blot and immunoprecipitation assay

CML cells and exosomes were lysed in lysis buffer (300 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris HCl pH 7.6, 0.1% Triton, 1 mM PMSF, 10 mg/ml leupeptin, 10 mg/ml aprotinin, 4 mM EDTA, 2 mM sodium orthovanadate, 10mMNaPPI, 100mMNaF) on ice for 1h. The cell lysates were clarified at high speed centrifugation for 15 min and an aliquot of the supernatant was assayed to determine protein concentration by the Bradford method.

Total cell or exosome lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and immunoblot. Antibodies used in the experiments were: HSC70, CD63 and VCAM-1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), actin, MAPK and phosphoMAPK (Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA). Five million HUVEC were incubated with 50 μ g/ml of LAMA 84 exosomes for 6 hr or with 10 ng/ml TNF a for 2 hr (positive control) or with low serum medium for 6 hr (negative control) and processed for immunoprecipitation experiments using precleared lysates. Samples were resolved in 8% SDSPAGE followed by immunoblotting with anti-VCAM1. Aliquots of the

precleared cell lysates were resolved independently by 8% SDS-PAGE and examined for actin quantity as a surrogate of IP input (named as starting material or St).

Acetylcholinesterase assay

A total of 10 μ g of exosomes in 100 μ l of PBS and 10 μ g of total cell lysate were resuspended in a solution of 1.25 mM acetylthiocoline and 0.1 mM 5,5'-dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) in a final volume of 1 ml. The incubation was carried out in cuvettes at 37 °C, and the change in absorbance at 412 nm was followed at different time points (from 0 to 180 min).

Flow cytometry for VCAM1

Expression of HUVEC cell surface VCAM-1 was determined by flow cytometry analysis. HUVEC were treated with or without 50 µg/ml of LAMA 84-exosomes in low serum medium (EGM:RPMI, 1:9). 500,000 cells were washed in PBS and incubated with 0.5 lg VCAM-1-FITC (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) for 15 min at 4°C. Viable cells were gated by forward and side scatter and the analysis was performed on 100,000 acquired events for each sample. Samples were analyzed on a FACS Calibur with the use of the CellQuest software (BD Biosciences).

Flow cytometry of VCAM-1 expression on the surface of latex bead-coupled exosomes

Exosomes are too small for FACScan analysis, and therefore were bound to surfactantfree white aldehyde/sulfate latex beads, 4 μ m diameter (Interfacial; Dynamics, Portland, OR). Beads were incubated with 30 μ g of exosomes for 15 min and then for 2h at room temperature in a final volume of 1 ml PBS. Glycine (100 mM) in PBS was added to the beads at room temperature to saturate the remaining binding sites. Beads were then washed in PBS/0,5% BSA and resuspended in 0,5 ml of PBS/0,5% BSA . 10 μ l of coated beads were incubated with 50 μ l VCAM-1 antibody diluted in PBS/0,5% BSA for 30 min, washed twice with PBS/0,5% BSA and analyzed with a FACScan and CellQuest software (241).

Flow cytometry for NKG2D, CD69, CD25, IFNy and TNFa

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells after overnight incubation with 1,5,10 µg/ml of exosomes from K562 and K562 zol were stimulated with 10 µg/ml Brefeldin A (Sigma) for 4 hours. The plate was centrifuged at 1300 rpm for 2 min and washed with PBS. Cell pellet was stained with Live/Dead aqua (1:10) (Invitrogen) at room temperature for 15 min. Cells were washed with PBS, spinned down at 1300 rpm for 2 min and resuspend with IgG blocking antibody (1:100) in 50 µl of FACS buffer (PBS containing 2% bovine serum albumin and 0.02% sodium azide). Cells were incubated for 15 min in dark on ice and washed on FACS. Cells were staining with surface antigens: CD69 FITC (Pharmigen); CD25 PE-Cy7(BD biosciences); CD3 APCH7 (BD biosciences); Vy9 PE-Cy5 (Coulter); NKG2D PE (Pharmigen). At the same time was prepared also a control Isotype for surface antigens with: IgG1 FITC; Vy9 PE-Cy5; CD3 APCH7; IgG1 PE-Cy7; IgG1 PE. Cells were staining for 20 min on ice and washed twice in PBS. Were added 50 µl of Fixation buffer to fix surface staining, for 15 min room temperature in dark. To eliminate all fixation buffer, cells were washed twice in PBS and washed with 50 µl of Permeabilization buffer. At this point cells were stained for intracellular cytokines with IFNy Pacific Blue (eBiosciences) and TNFa APC (BD Biosciences), and were stained also with control Isotype: IgG1 Pacific blue and IgG1 APC. Cells were incubated 15

min room temperature in dark and washed with FACS buffer. Stained cells were analysed by eight-colour flow cytometry on a FACS CANTO II (Becton Dickinson) using FlowJo software (Tree Star).

Immunofluorescence and cell cytoskeleton analysis

HUVEC monolayers were grown to confluence on coverslips coated with type I collagen (Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany) and were treated with increasing doses of CML exosomes or low serum medium for 6 hr to study VE cadherin, β -catenin protein distribution and expression level. After incubation with exosomes or BSA control, cells were fixed in 3.7% paraformaldehyde for 10 min followed by permeabilization with 0.1% Triton X-100 for 3 min. Antibodies used in the experiments were: VE cadherin and b-catenin (1:100; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz CA). Incubation with antibodies was performed in PBS with 1% BSA overnight at 4° C. Cells were stained with Texas Red-conjugated secondary antimouse antibodies (1:100; Molecular Probe, Eugene, OR) and analyzed by confocal microscopy (Olympus 1x70 with Melles Griot laser system). Analyses of the actin cytoskeleton were performed as described (ref20) The semi-quantitative analysis of fluorescence intensity was performed using IMAGE-J software (http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/).(242)

RNA extraction and Real-Time PCR

HUVEC cells were grown to confluence in 6-well plates and incubated for different times with the indicated stimuli. IL-8, VCAM-1, ICAM-1 transcript levels were measured by reverse transcription (RT) and TaqMan real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and analyzed as described (243) The following primers were used: IL-8, HS00174103_m1; VCAM-1, HS 00174239 m1; ICAM-1, HS 00277001_m1 and, GAPDH, Hs99999905 m1 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). GAPDH was used as the internal control.

Motility assays

Migration assays were performed following two standard protocols, Transwell chemotaxis chambers (NeuroProbe, Cabin John, MD) and wound repair assay. LAMA84 cells (2 x 10⁶/ml) were suspended in serum-free RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 0.1% BSA in transwell chemotaxis above 8 µm pore filters and exposed to chemoattractants with increased amount of exosomes (10-20-50 µg/ml), 10 ng/ml of recombinant IL8 (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), or neutralizing antibodies anti IL8 (5 µg/ml) (R&D system, Minneapolis, MN) as indicated. Filters were removed after 6 hr, fixed in ethanol and stained with Diff-Quick (Medion Diagnostics GmbH, Du⁻dingen, Switzerland). Each test group was tested in three independent experiments; the number of migrating cells in five high-power fields per well were counted at 400x magnification. For the wound healing assay, a wound was created by manually scraping the confluent endothelial cell monolayer with a p1000 pipette tip. After washing with PBS, cells were incubated for 3 hr with medium containing exosomes or control medium without exosomes. Images of cell-free spaces were taken with a digital camera at the indicated times and measured manually with the IMAGE-J software (http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/) (242). The data are reported as the percentage of the distance migrated relative to the control cultures for each experiment.

Adhesion assay

For Adhesion assays HUVEC monolayer was incubated for 6 hr with 10, 20, 50 µg/ml of LAMA84 exosomes, 50 µg/ml of LAMA84 exosomes plus anti-actin antibody (5 µg/ml), 10 ng/ml of recombinant IL8, 50 µg/ml of CML patients exosomes, EGM as positive control, 50 µg/ml of exosomes plus neutralizing antibody anti-IL8 (5 µg/ml), 50 µg/ml of PBMC exosomes and low serum medium as negative control. After treatment, cells were washed with PBS and 0.5×10^6 CML cells were added for 1 hr at 37°C. Adherent cells were stained with hematoxylin/eosin, each test group was assayed in triplicate; five high power (400X) fields were counted for each condition.

ELISA

HUVEC conditioned medium (CM) was collected from cells stimulated for 6 hr with 20 and 50 μ g/ml of PBMC exosomes, 10,20,50 μ g/ml of LAMA84 exosomes. CM aliquots were centrifuged to remove cellular debris and IL-8 protein concentrations were quantified using an ELISA kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis), according to the manufacturer's protocol. IL8 was also measured directly in LAMA84 exosomes (10,20,50 μ g/ml)

HUVEC tube formation on Matrigel

Matrigel was used to test the effects of exosomes on in vitro vascular tube formation as described (ref22). HUVEC were plated on Matrigel at concentration of 70000 cells/well in endothelial basal medium containing 0.2% of FBS, and 50 μ g/ml of LAMA84 exosomes plus anti-actin antibody (5 μ g/ml), 10 ng/ml

of recombinant IL8, 50 μ g/ml of CML patients exosomes, EGM as positive control, 50 μ g/ml of exosomes plus neutralizing antibody anti-IL8 (5 μ g/ml), 50 μ g/ml of PBMC exosomes and low serum medium as negative control were added to wells. Cells were incubated for 6 hr and then evaluated by phase-contrast microscopy and photographed.

Matrigel plug assay

All animal experiments were conducted in full compliance with University of Palermo and Italian Legislation for Animal Care. Four week old BALB/c nude mice (Charles River Laboratorie International, Wilmington, MA) were injected subcutaneously with 400 µl Matrigel (BD Biosciences Pharmingen, San Diego, CA) containing 100 µg LAMA84-derived exosomes with or without 10 lg/ml non specific anti-actin antibody or anti-IL-8 neutralizing antibody or PBS (negative control). The degree of vascularization was evaluated by determination of hemoglobin content using the Drabkin method (Drabkin's reagent kit, Sigma Saint Louis, Missouri) (244)

Statistics

Data were expressed as means \pm SEMs of the indicated number of experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by using a unpaired Student's t test. Differences were considered to be significant when p values were <0.05.

Results and Discussion

Characterization of the vesicles released from LAMA84, K562 and K562 treated with zoledronic acid CML cell lines

I examined the ability of LAMA84, K562 and K562 treated with 5 μ M zoledronic acid (ZA) cells to release exosomes into the culture medium during a 24 hr period. Before the recover of the medium I performed an acridina-orange/BrEt to check the vitality of the cells. The percentage of apoptotic cells were less than 3% (Fig. 12), this result allow to exclude the presence of apoptotic bodies in the pellet after the ultra centrifugation.



Fig. 12: Cultured LAMA84 (a) and K562 (b) CML cells $(10^6/ml)$ for 24h revealed a small percentage of apoptotic cells (<3%)

Vesicles secreted by LAMA84 CML cells were also purified on a sucrose gradient and analysed by scanning electron microscope (Fig. 13a) and Western blotting using antibodies specific for HSC 70 and CD63. These proteins were detected in cell lysates and found more expressed in exosome fractions (Fig. 13b). Acetylcholinesterase activity, a characteristic enzyme localized in exosomes, was found associated with the exosome fraction while negligible amounts were found in conditioned medium deprived of exosomes (Fig. 13c).



Fig. 13: (a) Exosomes released by LAMA84 cells observed by scanning electron microscopy. (b) Detection of Hsc 70 and CD63 in 30 μ g of exosomes purified after ultracentrifugation on 30% sucrose/D2O gradient (lane 1) and 30 μ g of cell lysate (lane 2). (c) Acetylcholinesterase assay. The activity of acetylcholinesterase, an exosome-specific protein marker, was determined in exosomes (10 μ g) (•), total cell lysates (10 μ g) (•), exosome-deprived Fbs (\blacktriangle) and exosome-deprived conditioned medium (CM) (•) as negative control

Exosomes purified from whole blood of 2 patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia displayed same properties of vesicles isolated from LAMA84 cells (fig.14).



Fig. 14: Characterization of exosomes from CML patients. Exosomes are enriched in HSC70 and CD63

I also characterized exosomes from K562 and K562 treated with zoledronic acid for HSC70, CD63 and Acetylcholinesterase enzyme (fig.15).



Fig. 15: (a) Detection of Hsc 70 and CD63 in 30 ug of exosomes from K562 and K562zol purified after ultracentrifugation on 30% sucrose/D2O gradient (lane 2 and lane 4) and 30 μ g of cell lysate (lane 1 and lane 3). (b,c) Acetylcholinesterase assay. The activity of acetylcholinesterase, an exosome-specific protein marker, was determined in exosomes (10 μ g) (pink lane), total cell lysates (10 μ g) (green lane), exosome-deprived Fbs (blue lane) as negative control.

It is important to underline that the treatment with 5 μ M of ZA affect the release of exosomes from K562 cells. On average, I obtained 100 μ g of exosomes/40 ml of K562 conditioned medium, while after the treatment with ZA the amount recovered is 50 μ g of exosomes/40 ml.

Scanning electron microscope, Hsc70, CD63 and acetylcholinesterase confirmed that the vesicles released from LAMA 84, K562, K562 treated with zoledronic acid CML cell lines were exosomes.

Exosomes treatment of HUVECs induces cell-cell adhesion molecules

To evaluate if exosomes shed by LAMA84 are able to affect cell-cell adhesion molecules mRNA expression, I treated HUVECs with different amount of exosomes for different times (6h, 12h, 24h).



Fig. 16: ICAM1 (a) and VCAM1 (b) mRNA expression increased in a time- and dose-dependent (10, 20, 50 lg/ml) manner after addition of exosomes to endothelial cell monolayer. Exosome-deprived conditioned medium (CM-Ex) and low-serum medium were used as negative controls.

As shown in figure 16 a and b, addition of increasing doses of exosomes to endothelial monolayer caused a dose- and time-dependent increase in VCAM-1 (13 fold increase) and ICAM-1 (6 fold increase) mRNA expression ($p \le 0.01$).

Figure 17a shows that incubation of HUVEC with LAMA84 exosomes or TNF α , used as positive control, induced an increase of VCAM1 protein levels. FACS analysis confirmed that incubation of HUVEC with LAMA84 exosomes resulted in the detection of VCAM-1 on the surface of HUVEC (Fig. 17b).



Fig. 17: a) Immunoprecipitation assay with anti-VCAM1 antibody. HUVEC were incubated for 6 hr with low-serum medium (lane 1); 50 lg/ml LAMA84 exosomes (lane 2) or 10 ng/ml TNF α (lane 3); results indicate an increased amount of VCAM-1 in exosome-treated cells. b) Representative overlay histogram showing an increase of surface expression of VCAM 1 on HUVEC treated with 50 lg/ml of LAMA84 exosomes (solid line) compared untreated HUVEC, as control (dot line)

Immunoprecipitation and western blotting assays showed that VCAM-1 was undetectable in LAMA84 exosomes and flow cytometry analysis of latex bead-coupled exosomes confirmed the absence of VCAM-1 on membrane particles (fig 18).



Fig. 18: Representative overlay histogram showing 10 μ l of latex beads coupled with 30 μ g of LAMA84 exosomes (black line) or BSA (grey line) tested for surface expression of VCAM-1. No shift in fluorescence was observed when exosomes were stained with VCAM-1 antibody.

Cell-cell interaction mediated through cell-adhesion molecules occurs after endothelial activation in angiogenesis. In leukaemia, the adhesion molecules have been thought to play an important role in various processes, including release of blast cells from bone marrow to the circulation, homing of blast cells to various organs and interaction of

blast cells with each other (209). These data showed that the amount of ICAM1 and VCAM1 was significantly higher in cells treated with increasing doses of LAMA84 exosomes. To support this statement VCAM1 was detected in exosomes-treated and untreated HUVEC cells. FACS analysis shows an increase in surface expression of VCAM1 in HUVEC cells after treatment with exosomes compared to untreated HUVEC cells. VCAM1 was tested also on exosomes directly, and the absence of surface expression confirm that this protein was produced by HUVEC and not transferred by adding LAMA84 exosomes. Then exosomes can be have a role on the interaction between CML cells and endothelium. Infact, it is described that leukemic cells interact with endothelium through adhesion molecules and cell adhesion is necessary to trigger the survival signals on leukemic cells. The increased expression of cell-cell adhesion molecules on endothelial cells may be associated with an augmented dissemination of leukemia blast cells to extramedullary sites (210), because ICAM1 and VCAM1 mediated the adhesion of myeloblasts to activated endothelium (211).

I also tested also the expression of IL8, IL6, VEGF and TGF β genes that are involved in tumor growth and angiogenesis. HUVECs treated with exosomes from LAMA84 induced a dose dependent increase in IL8 mRNA (fig.19).



Fig. 19: IL8 mRNA expression increased in a dose-dependent (10, 20, 50 lg/ml) manner after addition of exosomes to endothelial cell monolayer. Exosome-deprived conditioned medium (CM-Ex) and low-serum medium were used as negative controls.

Increased IL8 mRNA production was statistically significant and reached approximately a 20-fold induction after 6 hr of stimulation of the endothelial monolayer with 50 μ g/ml of vesicles. No effect was observed on IL-6, VEGF or TGF- β (data not shown). The use of IL-8 neutralizing antibody inhibited exosome-stimulated increase of ICAM-1, VCAM-1 adhesion molecules and IL8 as shown in figure 20.



Fig. 20: VCAM1, ICAM1 and IL8 mRNA expression in HUVEC treated for 12 h with low serummedium (Ctrl), Ctrl plus 10 lg/ml of a neutralizing anti-IL8 antibody, 50 lg/ml exosomes or 50 lg/ml exosomes plus 10 lg/ml of a neutralizing anti-IL8 antibody.

I evaluated also the release of IL8 into HUVEC conditioned medium and the data confirmed that there is an increase in the synthesis of IL8 in endothelial cells after treatment with exosomes. A small amount of IL8 was found in LAMA84 exosomes. No significant induction of IL-8 release was observed when HUVEC were stimulated with exosomes purified from PBMC (fig. 21).



Fig. 31: Elisa Assay. Treatment with exosomes induce an increase in the release of IL8 by HUVEC.

I demonstrated increased mRNA and protein expression of interleukin-8 in exosomesstimulated HUVEC cells. IL-8, a member of the CXC family of chemokines, is best known for its leukocyte chemotactic properties and associated role in inflammatory and infectious diseases (212). IL8 has other biological functions in addition to its wellrecognized role in regulating inflammatory responses (213), it has been shown that IL8 is a potent proangiogenic factor (214). It was demonstrated that IL8 has the ability to exert a strong effect on tumor microenvironment. For example, secretion of IL-8 from cancer cells can enhance the proliferation and survival of cancer cells through autocrine signaling pathways. In addition, tumor-derived IL-8 will activate endothelial cells in the tumor vasculature to promote angiogenesis and induce a chemotactic infiltration of neutrophils into the tumor site (215). It was demonstrated that IL8 plasma protein levels and IL8 mRNA expression by leukemic blasts were associated with a worse outcome in ALL (216) and CLL (217) patients, and it was described that IL8 plasma concentration are significantly increased in patients with CML (218). These data shows that IL8 were able to enhance the ability of endothelial cell to support adhesion of CML cells, and exert its pro-adhesion effect by stimulating VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression on HUVEC. Involvement of IL8 in exosome-mediated increase of ICAM1 and VCAM1 was also demonstrated by using recombinant IL8 and IL-8 neutralizing antibodies.

Exosomes stimulate binding of CML cells to HUVEC monolayer

A hallmark feature of leukemia progression is the adhesion of cancer cells to endothelial cells for extramedullary infiltration. Then, I tested the ability of leukemia cells to adhere to an endothelial monolayer to investigate functional effects of the observed increase of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression in exosome-treated HUVECs. Figure 22a shows a dose-dependent increase in leukemia cell adhesion to HUVEC after 6 h treatments. Figure 22b shows the increase in adhesion of LAMA84 cells (arrows) to HUVEC

monolayer after a 6 hr treatment with 50 μ g/ml of exosomes. Figure 22c shows that addition of recombinant IL-8 to endothelial cells causes an increase of CML cells adhesion to HUVEC monolayer similar to that produced by LAMA84 or CML patient exosomes. The addition of exosomes from CML patients to endothelial monolayer is similar to that produced by LAMA84 exosomes, while the treatment with exosomes from PBMC or with exosomes plus IL8 neutralizing antibody didn't increase the adhesion of leukemic cells to endothelial cells.



Fig. 22: a) Adhesion of LAMA84 cells to endothelial cell monolayer treated for 6 hr with different amount of LAMA84 exosomes or with EGM, used as positive control; b) Adhesion of LAMA84 cells to endothelial cell monolayer treated for 6 hr with LAMA84 exosomes observed at contrast phase microscopy; c) Adhesion of LAMA84 cells to HUVEC treated with 50 µg/ml of LAMA84 exosomes, 50 µg/ml of exosomes plus antibodies anti actin (5 µg/ml), 10 ng/ml of recombinant IL8, 50 µg/ml of CML patients exosomes, EGM (as positive control), 50 µg/ml of exosomes plus neutralizing antibodies anti IL8 (5 µg/ml), 50 µg/ml of PBMCexosomes in low serum medium and low serum medium (as negative control). Values are the mean 6 SD of 5 fields in three independent experiments CTRL: control. *p≤ 0.05; **p≤0.01.

These data confirmed that CML cells exhibited increased adhesion to HUVEC monolayer when LAMA84 exosomes were added. Interestingly, the same effects was observed with exosomes from CML patients. The effect of IL8 neutralizing antibody, that didn't increase the adhesion of leukemia cells to HUVEC monolayer, suggest that this chemokine may provide a supportive effects for CML cells in this angiogenic step.

CML exosomes promote migration of endothelial cells

In the angiogenic process one important step is the increase of the motility of the endothelial cells. Confluent, scrape-wounded endothelial cell monolayers were incubated with various concentrations of CML vesicles, and the percentage of closure was observed after 3 hr. Figure 23a shows that endothelial cell migration was significantly increased in exosome-treated cultures but not in the control medium.



Fig. 23: (a) Confluent, scrape-wounded endothelial cell monolayer incubated with low serummedium (negative control), 50 µg/ml of LAMA84 exosomes, and EGM medium (positive control), for 3 hr. b) Percentage of closure of the wounded area measured after addition of different amount of exosomes; c)Effects of exosomes on endothelial cell migration as measured by Boyden chamber assay. Addition of exosomes (10, 20, 50 µg/ml) for 6 hr to the bottom wells of the chamber induced a dose-dependent increase of HUVEC migration. Values are the mean 6 SD of 3 fields in three independent experiments *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01.

As positive control, EGM-treated cells migrated into the denuded area, almost completely covering the exposed surface after 3 hr. Measurement of wounded area evidenced, compared to control, a 55% percentage of closure when endothelial cells were treated with the dose of 50 µg/ml of exosomes (Fig.23b). I further analyzed the effects of exosomes on cell migration by Boyden chamber assay. Figure 15c shows that addition of a range of concentrations of vesicles (10–50 µg) to the bottom wells of the chamber caused, after 6 hr, a dose-dependent increase of CML cell migration. A similar, statistically significant, effect in the stimulation of endothelial cell migration was obtained when recombinant IL-8 or CML patients exosomes were added as chemoattractant in the Boyden assay (Fig.23c); on the contrary the presence of anti IL-8 neutralizing antibodies or PBMC exosomes in the bottom wells of boyden chamber didn't increase the motility of leukemia cells (Fig.24).



Fig. 24: 50 μ g/ml of LAMA84 exosomes, 50 μ g/ml of LAMA84 exosomes plus antibodies anti actin (5 μ g/ml), 10 ng/ml of recombinant IL8, 50 μ g/ml of CML patients exosomes, EGM (as positive control), 50 μ g/ml of LAMA84 exosomes plus neutralizing antibodies anti IL8 (5 μ g/ml), 50 μ g/ml of PBMC-exosomes in low serum medium and low serum medium (as negative control) were added as chemoattractants to the bottom wells.

Exosomes released from leukemia cells in close proximity of endothelial cells may also contribute in the exacerbation of endothelium activation and increase migration of endothelial cells during angiogenesis. This data demonstrate that the chemotactic effects on endothelial cells were potentiated by LAMA84 and CML patients exosomes in a dose-dependent manner both in Boyden chamber and in a wound healing assay. It was described that chemokines have been implicated in the migration and tissue infiltration of leukaemic cells (219), and here it has been demonstrated that the addition of IL-8 neutralizing antibodies to CML exosomes in both assays inhibited the process of cells motility thus reinforcing the role of IL-8 in exosomes-induced cells migration.

Exosome treatment alters VE-cadherin and β -catenin localization

To investigate if alteration of cell junctional components could be responsible for the increase in cell motility, I evaluated the effects of exosomes on expression of VEcadherin and β -catenin. VE-cadherin is an endothelial-specific adhesion molecules which under normal condition, is located at adherens junctions and is essential for the mainteinance and control of endothelial cell contacts (220,221), and the association with β-catenin is required for junction stabilization. The extracellular domain of VE-cadherin mediates initial cell adhesion, whereas the cytosolic tail is required for interaction with the cytoskeleton and junctional strength, mediated through β -catenin (222). The functional role of VE-cadherin changes during early phases of angiogenesis. Endothelial cells treated with exosomes from LAMA84 cell lines show a delocalization of this molecule. VE-cadherin staining decreased in intensity and became patchy at the membrane concomitant with the appearance of a granular cytoplasmic staining in HUVEC treated with 50 µg/ml of exosomes, compared to control cells that had continuous peripheral VE-cadherin staining (Fig. 25b). I evaluated also the effect of exosomes on β -catenin, a protein that interact with VE-cadherin and is involved in signal transduction. HUVEC treated with exosomes show a reduction of membrane immunostaining compared to control cells after 6h. The treatment with exosomes caused a translocation from the plasma membrane to the cytoplasm and nucleus (fig.25 c and d). Furthermore, staining of actin filaments with rhodamine-conjugated phalloidin confirmed the alteration of endothelial integrity when exosomes are added to HUVEC monolayer (fig.25a).



Fig. 25: (a) modification of cytoskeletal structures as observed with actin localization in HUVEC monolayer treated with 50 µg/ml of exosomes compared to control cells b) Analysis at confocal microscopy of VE Cadherin localization in HUVEC cells treated with LAMA84 exosomes revealed a decrease of immunostaining compared to untreated cells (control). (c) Decrease of immunostaining for β catenin in cell membranes was revealed after 6 hr incubation of HUVEC with 50 µg/ml of LAMA84 exosomes compared to control cells (d) figure shows the translocation of b catenin in the cytoplasm and nucleus compared to control

Treatment of HUVECs with LAMA84 exosomes induced a cytoskeletal reorganization with a concomitant translocation of VE-cadherin and β -catenin from cell surface to cytoplasm and nuclei. Overall, these results indicate that addition of exosomes to endothelial cells reduced intercellular adhesion, as a biological consequence of loss of zonulae adherens components, VE-cadherin and β -catenin. These loosen endothelial cell-to-cell contacts, is indicative of weakened cell-cell adhesion mechanism and may be responsible for increased motility (223).

In vitro Angiogenesis Assay

To evaluate the effects of exosomes on *in vitro* models of angiogenesis, I performed an angiogenesis assay on Matrigel; as shown in figure 26, a treatment for 6h with exosomes from LAMA84 induce in HUVECs an endothelial network formation in a



Fig. 26: Phase contrast micrographs showing that exosomes induce an endothelial network formation on matrigel. No tube formation is observed when HUVEC are plated in low-serum medium or in the presence of 50 μ g/ml of exosomes plus neutralizing antibody against IL8 or with exosomes from PBMC; the addition to HUVEC cells of 50 μ g/ml of LAMA84 exosomes or 50 μ g/ml of exosomes plus a nonspecific antibody against actin or exosomes from CML patients caused the formation of capillary-like structures

dose-dependent manner. I obtained the same results with the addition of recombinant IL8 or with exosomes from CML patients, while the treatment with exosomes from PBMC had no effect. The anti-IL8 neutralizing antibody inhibited exosome-induced tube formation while treatment of cells with an anti-actin antibody had no effect.

In vivo Angiogenesis Assay

The angiogenic potential of LAMA84 exosomes was then assayed *in vivo* by examining the recruitment of vasculature into subcutaneously implanted Matrigel plugs containing exosomes. Figure 27 shows that the plugs containing LAMA84 exosomes and LAMA84 exosomes plus a non specific antibody (anti-actin antibody), became more vascularized than implants with PBS control or with exosomes plus an anti-IL8 neutralizing antibody. This suggests that IL-8 is critical for vascular recruitment and organization in this model. This is supported by the increased haemoglobin concentration in the exosomes-containing Matrigel (Table 1).



Fig. 27: Matrigel plug containing LAMA84 exosomes stimulate angiogenesis in nude mice. Ctrl: Negative control (Matrigel plus PBS), Ex + Ab nIL8: LAMA84 exosomes (100 µg) plus 10 µg/ml of an antibody neutralizing anti-IL8, Ex + Ab Actin: LAMA84 exosomes (100 µg) plus 10 µg/ml of a non specific antibody against actin, Ex LAMA84: LAMA84 exosomes (100 µg).

Matrigel	
	ABS
Ctrl	0.040
EX+Ab nlL8	0.070
Ex+ Ab actin	0.247
Ex LAMA84	0.378

Table 1. Haemoglobin concentration in the exosomes-containing

An important aspect of tumor progression is tumor vascularization, and tube formation of endothelial cells is one of the key steps of angiogenesis. Increased vascularization is seen in AML (224), ALL (225) and also CML (226) patients show an increase in the number of blood vessels but little is know about angiogenesis and angiogenesis-related molecules in leukemia, while there are many data about the effect of exosomes on solid tumor angiogenesis. Skog et al. have showed that glioblastoma tumor cells release different types of microvesicles including exosomes that contain mRNA, miRNA and proteins that may stimulate endothelial cells to acquire an angiogenic phenotype (126). It has been demonstrated that exosomes of human SW480 colon carcinoma cells are enriched in cell cycle-related mRNAs that promote proliferation of endothelial cells, suggesting that microvesicles from cancer cells can be involved in tumor growth and metastasis by facilitating angiogenesis-related processes (227). The role of exosomes in metastasis has been also demonstrated in melanoma cells in a study by Hood and collaborators. They found that exosomes modulated both angiogenic and immunological cytokine signalling, thus serving as paracrine nanocarriers that might prepare distal sites for the arrest of metastatic cells (123).

Here, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays demonstrated that LAMA84 and CML patients exosomes stimulates endothelial cell proliferation and capillary-tube organization, which can be blocked by neutralizing anti-IL-8 Abs, reinforcing the role of IL-8 in exosomes-induced vascularization and angiogenesis. These data support the role of exosomes in leukemic microenvironment as important mediators of tumor growth, progression and angiogenesis.

Exosomes trigger phosphorylation of MAPK p42/44

I analyzed MAPK signalling after interaction between endothelial cells and purified exosomes to begin to understand the molecular pathways through which exosomes affect angiogenesis. MAPK is a key signalling pathway activated in endothelial cells after binding of angiogenic factors (228). Crosstalk between MAPK and other signalling pathways can further stimulate angiogenesis (229). As shown in figure 28 stimulation of HUVEC with 50 μ g/ml exosomes caused a time-dependent phosporylation of MAPK p42/44. The role of ERK activation in angiogenic growth factor signaling has been well established (230). ERK activation is probably required for the growth factor-induced secretion of angiogenic factors from tumor cells (231). The strong activation of ERK1/2 in endothelial cells early, after the exosomes addition suggest that these exosomes exert a specific stimulus for endothelial cell function.



Fig. 28: : Western blot analysis of pMAPK and MAPK in HUVEC treated with 50 µg of LAMA84 exosomes. HUVEC were starved for 3 hr with serum free medium and then treated with 50 µg of LAMA 84 exosomes for 15 min (lane 3) and 30 min (lane 4), or with low serum medium alone for 15 min (lane 1) and 30 min (lane 2) as control.

Effects of exosomes on $\gamma\delta$ T cell function

The ability of tumor cells to evade or suppress an active immune response is considered to be a significant factor in the development and progression of tumors. It has been shown that cancer patients, in particular those with malignant effusions such as ascites, produce enormous amounts of exosomes in vivo and, instead of boosted anti-cancer immunity, they succumb to the cancer with a deranged immune system (48). Increasing clinical and experimental evidence shows that cancer cells produce exosomes which affect cytotoxic ability of NK- and T cells and thus assist cancers in their immune evasion. Consequently, tumor-derived exosomes might be vehicles for immunosuppression with negative impact on the immune system of cancer patients and their effects should be taken in consideration when designing treatment for cancer patients (232). It has been described that the immune escape of leukemia may be related to inadequate NK cell function such as low NK cell numbers and impaired cytotoxicity. microvesicles from patient's sera suppress NK cell activity (233) and In AML, represent a mechanism by which leukaemia escape form immune system. Most of the papers in literature investigated the effects of exosomes on NK cells, while to our knowledge no data exist on the possible role of exosomes on $\gamma\delta$ T cells function. As NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been know to mediated killing of a broad range of tumor targets, including leukaemia blasts. As mentionated before, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are able to kill CML cells when those cells are pretreated with ZA. Then the aim of this second part of my thesis is to study the effects of exosomes released from K562 CML cell line on $\gamma\delta$ T cells to better understand the interaction between cancer-exosomes and the immune system. Before each experiment I checked the purity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells after immunomagnetic separation of T cells. The purity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells was assessed by flow cytometry. The percentage of purified $\gamma\delta$ T cells was 96,7% (Figure 29)



Fig. 29: Analysis of $\gamma\delta T$ cells isolated by magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS) using CANTO II. a) gate of lymphocytes population based on FSC and SSC parameters; b) CD3+ live subset; c) subset of V γ 9+ cells

I tested the effect of exosomes shed by K562 and K562 after treatment with 5 μ M of zoledronate on cytokines production, NKG2D, CD69 and CD25 expression by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Exosomes don't exert any effects on $\gamma\delta$ alone (data not shown), but they are able to induce a down-regulation of activation marker, CD69 and CD25, and NKG2D expression when $\gamma\delta$ T cells are activated with 10 nM of HMBPP and 20 U/ml of IL2. Exosomes affect also the IFN γ and TNF α release, suggesting that exosomes from CML have an inhibitory effect on $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes.

Tumor exosomes inhibit IFN γ and TNF α release

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells is a subset of lymphocytes able to provide an early source of IFN γ and TNF α that are important to kill transformed cells and contribute to the prompt generation of adaptive immune responses with $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes. I investigated the effect of exosomes on cytokine release. $\gamma\delta$ T cells from healthy donors were treated with different doses of K562 and K562zol exosomes (1,5,10 µg/ml) in presence of 10 nM of HMBPP and 20 U/ml of IL2. After overnight incubation, lymphocytes were treated with

brefeldin for 4 hr and analyzed for IFN γ and TNF α expression (gating scheme is shown Fig. 30).



Fig. 40: Schematic representation of the multicolor flow cytometry gating scheme used to analyze lymphocyte IFN γ and TNF α expression. a) V γ 9+ CD3+ cells gated; b) γ 5+HMBPP+IL2 used as control shows 70% IFN γ double positive cells and 53,28% TNF α positive cells; c) γ 5+HMBPP+IL2+10 µg/ml of K562 exosomes shows a decrease in both cytokines expression (48,4% for IFN γ and 17,9% for TNF α); d) γ 5+HMBPP+IL2+10 µg/ml of K562zol exosomes shows a decrease as K562 exosomes without treatment (56,4% for IFN γ and 16,43% for TNF α);

Treatment with K562 and K562zol exosomes induces an impairment in both IFN γ and TNF α secreting cells. In figure 31, the graph shows a dose-dependent decrease in IFN γ release compared to control.

Also for TNF α the treatment with exosomes induces a dose-dependent decrease (fig.32).


Fig. 31: Treatment of $\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2 with 1,5,10 µg/ml of exosomes from K562 and K562 treated with 5 µM zoledronic acid induce a dose-dependent decrease in IFN γ release, compared to control ($\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2). Data represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments.

Interestingly, the treatment with K562zol exosomes seems have a less effect on the decrease of TNF α production compared to treatment with K562 exosomes, especially with the dose of 1 µg/ml (23,8% of TNF α after treatment with 1 µg/ml of K562 exosomes and 29,6% of TNF α after treatment with 1 µg/ml of K562zol).



Fig. 32: Treatment of $\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2 with 1,5,10 µg/ml of exosomes from K562 and K562 treated with 5 µM zoledronic acid induce a dose-dependent decrease in TNF α release, compared to control ($\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2). Data represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments.

IFN γ and TNF α produced by $\gamma\delta$ T cells are critical cytokines for protective immune responses against tumors. The treatment with exosomes induces an inhibition on cytokines production in $\gamma\delta$ T cells, then impair the ability of these cells to provide an early source of IFN γ in tumor immunosurveillance, and probably on cytotoxicity activity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. These data suggest that tumor exosomes express specific molecules that mediate the inhibition of $\gamma\delta$ T cell activation. The identification of these molecules will be of importance in the future design of successful cancer immune therapy.

Exosomes downregulate NKG2D receptor

NKG2D receptor is an activatory receptor of NK, CD8+ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Elevated levels of NKG2D ligands have been documented in a range of epithelial and other malignancies (234), and are important in tumor immune surveillance (235). These ligands include members of the MICA and UL16-binding protein (ULBP) families, molecules that have highly restricted expression patterns in health, but are readily upregulated following viral infection or genotoxic stress (236). The presence of these ligands essentially making cancer cells as attractive targets for NK cells (237), $\gamma\delta$ T cells (238) and CD8+ lymphocytes (239), through NKG2D-mediated lymphocyte activation via PI3K and IFNy release. Clayton et al, described that exosomes from prostate cancer and mesothelioma express NKG2D ligands and are able to downregulate NKG2D receptor on NK cells (106). I investigated the effects of exosomes from K562 leukaemia cell line on NKG2D receptor on $\gamma\delta$ T cells, in order to explain the decrease on cytokine production. γδ T cells plus 10 nM of HMBPP and 20 U/ml of IL2 were treated with 1,5,10 µg/ml of K562 exosomes and K562 zol exosomes. After overnight incubation, expression of NKG2D was analyzed by multicolour flow cytometry. Tumor-exosome treatment resulted in a significant reduction in cell surface NKG2D expression as shown in figure 33. Exosomes treatment don't change the percentage of NKG2D positive cells.



Fig. 33: Treatment of $\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2 with 1,5,10 µg/ml of exosomes from K562 and K562 treated with 5 µM zoledronic acid induce a dose-dependent downregulation of NKG2D receptor, compared to control ($\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2). Data represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments.

This data show that exosomes drive a down-modulation of NKG2D expression, and this can be an important mechanism by which tumor exosomes may suppress this key tumor cell recognition and lymphocyte activation pathway. It was described that K562 CML cell line express MICA, MICB, ULBP-1, and ULBP-2 ligands at the cell surface and in CML patient's sera was found a soluble form of MICA at high levels (240), while such molecules are not detectable in healthy donors sera. The production of NKG2Dligand-bearing exosomes, therefore, may be a novel mechanism for tumor cell immune evasion, and further demonstrates the complexity of interactions possible between exosomes and the immune system.

CML exosomes downregulate CD69/CD25 expression

Purified $\gamma\delta$ T cells rapidly express activation antigens CD25 (high-affinity IL2R α chain) and CD69 following stimulation with HMBPP or IPP. CD69 and CD25 are involved in lymphocytes proliferation and activation. CD69 has a functional role in redirected lysis mediated by activated NK and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In figure 34, the graph show that the treatment

with exosomes induce a dose-dependent decrease in $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing both activation marker.



Fig. 34: Treatment of $\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2 with 1,5,10 µg/ml of exosomes from K562 and K562 treated with 5 µM zoledronic acid induce a dose-dependent downregulation of CD69/CD25 positive cells, compared to control ($\gamma\delta$ +HMBPP+IL2). Data represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments.

It was described that downregulation of NKG2D don't affect the expression of CD69, responsible also for NK cells activation, infact in NK cells, treatment with mesothelioma exosomes induces upregulation of CD69 (106). Here, treatment with K562 exosomes induces a downregulation of this marker and maybe responsible of the lack of $\gamma\delta$ T cells activation. Normally, IL2 induces the expression of CD25, that is important for lymphocytes proliferation, and in the presence of tumor exosomes, this CD25 induction is inhibited, suggesting that exosomes are able to impair activation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Conclusion

The data obtained in this thesis have touched upon some issues in exosomes biology, particularly on the role of exosomes released from CML cell lines on angiogenesis and $\gamma\delta$ T cell function. Angiogenesis plays an important role in the development and progression of CML. The bone marrow of patients with CML exhibit marked neovascularization and increased number of endothelial cells; but little is known about how CML cells induce the angiogenic phenotype. Recently, exosomes are described as new components that modulate the tumor microenvironment, promoting angiogenesis and tumor progression. This thesis provides insights into the role of exosomes in angiogenesis process. The data obtained indicate that chronic myeloid leukemia cells lines, release exosomes characterized by the presence of HSC70, CD63 and acetylcholinesterase. LAMA84 exosomes affect several steps of angiogenesis, expression of angiogenic factors, chemoinvasion and adhesion. The data showed that treatment of HUVEC cells with increasing doses of LAMA84 exosomes and CML patients exosomes induce an increase in cell-adhesion molecules ICAM1 and VCAM1, increase in production of IL8, a cytoskeletal reorganization with a concomitant translocation of VE-cadherin and β -catenin from cell surface to cytoplasm and nuclei, that can contribute to angiogenic process. Interestingly, here was found that IL8 play an important role in CML exosomes-mediated angiogenesis. It was demonstrated an increased mRNA and protein expression of interleukin-8, in exosomes-stimulated HUVEC cells. An ELISA assay evaluated the release of IL8 into HUVEC conditioned medium and the data confirmed that there is an increase in the release of IL8 from endothelial cells after treatment with exosomes. IL8 was found also in LAMA84 exosomes. To evaluate the angiogenic potential of LAMA84 exosomes it has been performed an *in vitro* and *in vivo* angiogenesis assays. LAMA84, CML patients and rIL8 exosomes, induced tubular differentiation of HUVECs and stimulated vascularization of Matrigel plugs implanted into nude mice. The addition of IL-8 neutralizing antibodies to CML exosomes in both assays inhibited the process of angiogenesis thus reinforcing the role of IL-8 in exosomes-induced vascularization. The results here described contribute to understand tumor-host interaction in CML, with a prominent role of IL8 in angiogenic phenotype. For the first time, exosomes released from CML cells have been involved as important components leading to endothelium activation and angiogenesis.

On the other hand, the initial study on the effects of $\gamma\delta$ T cell shows that exosomes from K562, and exosomes from K562 after treatment with zoledronate, are able to inhibit some $\gamma\delta$ T cells function. For the first time it was demonstrated that exosomes from CML cell lines are able to downregulate NKG2D receptor, CD69/CD25 activation marker and the production of IFN γ and TNF α , suggesting a role of these exosomes in immunosuppression. These data provide few but interesting informations about the potential role of exosomes on leukemia immune escape mechanism. To better understand how exosomes are able to perform this inhibition will be useful assess the presence of FASL, MICA and MICB or other ligands on exosomes surface and evaluate the effects of exosomes on $\gamma\delta$ T cells proliferation. In order to confirm that exosomes impair activaction marker and cytokine release, will be very interesting to evaluate the cytotoxic activity of $\gamma\delta$ lymphocytes against CML cells targets following exosomes treatment. Another important observation is the effects of zoledronic acid on the release of exosomes from K562 cell line. After treatment with 5µM of this drug, the amount of exosomes is reduced about 50% compared to exosomes from cells untreated, but the effects on $\gamma\delta$ T cells function is the same.

These initial findings on the role of CML exosomes on $\gamma\delta$ T cell shed new light on the immune-escape mechanism exosomes-mediated. Focus on the mechanism of action of zoledronate in the release of exosomes and if after treatment there are change in the quality of exosomes could be important to find some new approaches for CML therapy.

Bibliography

- 1. Jaffe ES, Harris NL, Stein H, et al. World Health Organization Classification of tumors: Pathology and genetics of tumors of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon, France: IARC Press; 2001
- 2. Faderl S, Talpaz M, Estrov Z, et al. Chronic myelogenous leukemia: biology and therapy. Ann Intern Med 1999;131:207-19
- 3. Mughal TI, Goldman JM. Chronic myeloid leukemia: why does it evolve from chronic phase to blast transformation? Front Biosci 2006;11:198–208.
- 4. Calabretta B. et al. The biology of CML blast crisis. Blood 2004; 103(11): 4010-22.
- 5. Rowley J. A new consistent chromosomal abnormality in chronic myelogenous leukaemia identified by quinacrine fluorescence and Giemsa staining. Nature 1973;243:290–93.
- 6. Ben-Neriah Y, Daley G, Mes-Masson A, Witte O, Baltimore D. 1986. The chronic myelogenous leukemia-specific P210 protein is the product of the bcr/abl hybrid gene. Science 233:212–214.
- McWhirter JR, Galasso DL, Wang JY. A coiled-coil oligomerization domain of Bcr is essential for the transforming function of Bcr-Abl oncoproteins. *Mol Cell Biol* 1993; 13: 7587–7595
- 8. Muller AJ, Young JC, Pendergast AM, Pondel M, Landau NR, Littman DR, Witte ON. BCR first exon sequences specifically activate the BCR/ABL tyrosine kinase oncogene of Philadelphia chromosome- positive human leukemias. *Mol Cell Biol* 1991; **11**:1785–1792.
- Sonoyama J, Matsumura I, Ezoe S, Satoh Y, Zhang X, Kataoka Y, Takai E, Mizuk IM, Machii T, Wakao H, Kanakura Y. 2002. Functional cooperation among Ras, STAT5, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase is required for full oncogenic activities of BCR/ABL in K562 cells. J Biol Chem 277:8076– 8082.
- 10. Arlinghaus R, Sun T. 2004. Signal transduction pathways in Bcr-Abl transformed cells. Cancer Treat Res 119:239–270.
- 11. Gordon MY, Dowding CR, Riley GP, Goldman JM, Greaves MF. Altered adhesive interactions with marrow stroma of haematopoietic progenitor cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia. *Nature* 1987; 328: 342–344.
- 12. Cortez D, Reuther G, Pendergast AM. The Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase activates mitogenic signaling pathways and stimulates G1- to-S phase transition in hematopoietic cells. *Oncogene* 1997; 15:2333–2342.
- 13. Sawyers CL. et al. Chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 1999; 340(17): 1330-40.
- 14. Chronic Myeloid Leucemia Trialists' collaborative group. Interferon alfa versus chemotherapy for CML: a meta-analysis of seven randomised trias. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997; 89: 1616-1620.
- 15. Talpaz M, McCredie KB, Mavligit GM, et al. Leukocyte interferon induced myeloid cytoreduction in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 1983;62:689-92.
- 16. Bhatia R, Verfaillie CM. Inhibition of BCR-ABL expression with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides restores beta1 integrin-mediated adhesion and

proliferation inhibition in chronic myelogenous leukaemia hematopoietic progenitors. Blood 1998;91:3414- 22.

- 17. Beelen DW. et al. Allogenic stem cell transplants in chronic myeloid leukemia. Ann Hematol. 2002; 81 Suppl 2: S45-6.
- 18. Litzow MR. Imatinib resistance obstacles and opportunities. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med* 2006 130: 913-923.
- 19. O'Hare T, Eide CA, Deininger MW (2007) Bcr-Abl kinase domain mutations, drug resistance, and the road to a cure for chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 110:2242–2249
- 20. Gordon MY, Dowding CR, Riley GP, Goldman JM, Greaves MF (1987) Altered adhesive interactions with marrow stroma of haematopoietic progenitor cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Nature 328:342–344
- 21. Diaz-Flores L, Gutierrez R, Varela H. Angiogenesis : an update. Histol Histopathol 1994 ; 9:807
- 22. Rafii S, Mohle R, Shapiro F, Frey BM, Moore MAS. Regulation of hematopoiesis by microvascular endothelium. *Leuk Lymphoma* 1997; 27: 375–386.
- 23. Bertolini F, Manusco P, Gobbi A, Pruneri G. The thin redline: angiogenesis in normal andmalignant hematopoiesis. *Exp Hematol* 2000; 28: 993–1000.
- 24. Ribatti D, Nico B, Crivellato E, Roccaro AM, Vacca A. The history of the angiogenic swithc concept. 2007 Leukemia 21:44-52
- 25. Mangi M.H. and Newland A.C. (2000). Angiogenesis and angiogenic mediators in haematological malignancies. Br. J. Haematol. 111, 43-51
- 26. Moehler T.M., Neben K., Ho A.D. and Goldschmidt H. (2001). Angiogenesis in hematologic malignancies. Ann. Hematol. 80, 695-705.
- Aguayo, A., Kantarjian, H., Manshouri, T., Gidel, C., Estey, E., Thomas, D., Koller, C., Estrov, Z., O'Brien, S., Keating, M., Freireich, E., Albitar, M., 2000. Angiogenesis in acute and chronic leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood 96 (6), 2240–2245
- 28. Lundberg LG, Lerner R, Sundelin P, Rogers R, Folkman J, Palmblad J (2000) Bone marrow in polycythemia vera, chronic myelocytic leukemia, and myelofibrosis has an increased vascularity. Am J Pathol 157:15–19
- 29. Kalinkovich A, Tavor S, Avigdor A, Kahn J, Brill A, Petit I, Goichberg P, Tesio M, Netzer N, Naparstek E, Hardan I, Nagler A, Resnick I, Tsimanis A, Lapidot T Functional CXCR4-expressing microparticles and SDF-1 correlate with circulating acute myelogenous leukemia cells. (2006) Cancer Res; 66(22):11013-20
- 30. Holmes WE, Lee J, KuangWJ, Rice GC, Wood WI. Structure and functional expression of a human interleukin-8 receptor. Science1991;253:1278^80.
- 31. Murphy PM,Tiffany HL. Cloning of a complimentary DNA encoding a functional human interleukin-8 receptor. Science 1991;253:1280^3
- 32. Cheng GZ, Park S, Shu S, et al. Advances of AKT pathway in human oncogenesis and as a target for anti-cancer drug discovery. Curr Cancer DrugTargets 2008;8:2 ^6.
- 33. Li A, Dubey S, Varney ML, Dave BJ, Singh RK. IL-8 directly enhanced endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinases production and regulated angiogenesis. J Immunol 2003;170:3369^76.
- Francavilla C, Maddaluno L, Cavallaro U. The functional role of cell adhesion molecules in tumor angiogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol. 2009 Oct;19(5):298-309.

- 35. Raposo, G., Nijman, H.W., Stoorvogel, W., Liejendekker, R., Harding, C.V., Melief, C.J., Geuze, H.J. (1996) B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. J Exp Med 183, 1161-72.
- 36. Blanchard, N., Lankar, D., Faure, F., Regnault, A., Dumont, C., Raposo, G., Hivroz, C. (2002) TCR activation of human T cells induces the production of exosomes bearing the TCR/CD3/zeta complex. J Immunol 168, 3235-41.
- 37. Raposo, G., Tenza, D., Mecheri, S., Peronet, R., Bonnerot, C., Desaymard, C. (1997) Accumulation of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules in mast cell secretory granules and their release upon degranulation. Mol Biol Cell 8, 2631-45.
- Zitvogel, L., Regnault, A., Lozier, A., Wolfers, J., Flament, C., Tenza, D., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Raposo, G., Amigorena, S. (1998) Eradication of established murine tumors using a novel cell-free vaccine: dendritic cellderived exosomes. Nat Med 4, 594-600.
- 39. Heijnen, H.F., Schiel, A.E., Fijnheer, R., Geuze, H.J., Sixma, J.J. (1999) Activated platelets release two types of membrane vesicles: microvesicles by surface shedding and exosomes derived from exocytosis of multivesicular bodies and alpha-granules. Blood 94, 3791-9.
- Faure, J., Lachenal, G., Court, M., Hirrlinger, J., Chatellard-Causse, C., Blot, B., Grange, J., Schoehn, G., Goldberg, Y., Boyer, V., Kirchhoff, F., Raposo, G., Garin, J., Sadoul, R. (2006) Exosomes are released by cultured cortical neurones. Mol Cell Neurosci 31, 642-8.
- 41. van Niel, G., Raposo, G., Candalh, C., Boussac, M., Hershberg, R., Cerf-Bensussan, N., Heyman, M. (2001) Intestinal epithelial cells secrete exosome-like vesicles. Gastroenterology 121, 337-49.
- 42. Trams, E.G., Lauter, C.J., Salem, N., Jr., Heine, U. (1981) Exfoliation of membrane ecto-enzymes in the form of micro-vesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta 645, 63-70.
- 43. Harding, C., Heuser, J., Stahl, P. (1984) Endocytosis and intracellular processing of transferrin and colloidal gold-transferrin in rat reticulocytes:demonstration of a pathway for receptor shedding. Eur J Cell Biol 35, 256-63.
- 44. Pan, B.T., Teng, K., Wu, C., Adam, M., Johnstone, R.M. (1985) Electron microscopic evidence for externalization of the transferrin receptor in vesicular form in sheep reticulocytes. J Cell Biol 101, 942-8.
- 45. Caby, M.P., Lankar, D., Vincendeau-Scherrer, C., Raposo, G., Bonnerot, C. (2005) Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma. Int Immunol 17, 879-87.
- Pisitkun, T., Shen, R.F., Knepper, M.A. (2004) Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 13368-73.
- 47. Skriner, K., Adolph, K., Jungblut, P.R., Burmester, G.R. (2006) Association of citrullinated proteins with synovial exosomes. Arthritis Rheum 54, 3809-14
- 48. Andre, F., Schartz, N.E., Movassagh, M., Flament, C., Pautier, P., Morice, P., Pomel, C., Lhomme, C., Escudier, B., Le Chevalier, T., Tursz, T., Amigorena, S., Raposo, G., Angevin, E., Zitvogel, L. (2002) Malignant effusions and immunogenic tumour-derived exosomes. Lancet 360, 295-305.
- 49. Gatti, J.L., Metayer, S., Belghazi, M., Dacheux, F., Dacheux, J.L. (2005) Identification, proteomic profiling, and origin of ram epididymal fluid

exosome-like vesicles. Biol Reprod 72, 1452-65.

- 50. Ronquist, G., Brody, I. (1985) The prostasome: its secretion and function in man. Biochim Biophys Acta 822, 203-18.
- Kleijmeer, M.J., Escola, J.M., UytdeHaag, F.G., Jakobson, E., Griffith, J .M.,Osterhaus, A.D., Stoorvogel, W., Melief, C.J., Rabouille, C., Geuze, H.J. (2001) Antigen loading of MHC class I molecules in the endocytic tract. Traffic 2, 124-37.
- 52. Amzallag, N., Passer, B.J., Allanic, D., Segura, E., Thery, C., Goud, B., Amson, R., Telerman, A. (2004) TSAP6 facilitates the secretion of translationally controlled tumor protein/histamine-releasing factor via a nonclassical pathway. J Biol Chem 279, 46104-12.
- 53. Savina, A., Fader, C.M., Damiani, M.T., Colombo, M.I. (2005) Rab11 promotes docking and fusion of multivesicular bodies in a calcium-dependent manner. Traffic 6, 131-43.
- 54. Savina, A., Furlan, M., Vidal, M., Colombo, M.I. (2003) Exosome release is regulated by a calcium-dependent mechanism in K562 cells. J Biol Chem 278,20083-90.
- 55. Savina, A., Vidal, M., Colombo, M.I. (2002) The exosome pathway in K562 cells is regulated by Rab11. J Cell Sci 115, 2505-15.
- 56. de Gassart, A., Geminard, C., Hoekstra, D., Vidal, M. (2004) Exosome secretion: the art of reutilizing nonrecycled proteins? Traffic 5, 896-903.
- 57. Simons, M., Raposo, G. (2009) Exosomes-vesicular carrier for intercellular communication. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21(4):575-81
- 58. Buschow SI, Liefhebber JM, Wubbolts R, Stoorvogel W:Exosomes contain ubiquitinated proteins. Blood Cells Mol Dis2005, 35:398-403.
- 59. Liu Y, Shah SV, Xiang X, Wang J, Deng ZB, Liu C, Zhang L, Wu J, Edmonds T, Jambor C et al.: COP9-associated CSN5 regulates exosomal protein deubiquitination and sorting. Am J Pathol 2009, 174:1415-1425
- 60. Putz U, Howitt J, Lackovic J, Foot N, Kumar S, Silke J, Tan SS:Nedd4 family-interacting protein 1 (Ndfip1) is required for the exosomal secretion of Nedd4 family proteins. J Biol Chem 2008, 283:32621-32627.
- 61. Geminard C, De Gassart A, Blanc L, Vidal M: Degradation of AP2 during reticulocyte maturation enhances binding of hsc70 and Alix to a common site on TFR for sorting into exosomes. Traffic 2004, 5:181-193
- 62. de Gassart, A., Geminard, C., Fevrier, B., Raposo, G., Vidal, M. (2003) Lipid raft-associated protein sorting in exosomes. Blood 102, 4336-44.
- 63. Mobius, W., van Donselaar, E., Ohno-Iwashita, Y., Shimada, Y., Heijnen, H.F.,Slot, J.W., Geuze, H.J. (2003) Recycling compartments and the internal vesicles of multivesicular bodies harbor most of the cholesterol found in the endocytic pathway. Traffic 4, 222-31.
- 64. Thery, C. et al. Proteomic analysis of dendritic-cell-derived exosomes: a secreted subcellular compartment distinct from apoptotic vesicles. J. Immunol. 166, 7309–7318 (2001).
- 65. Thery, C. et al. Molecular characterization of dendritic cell-derived exosomes. Selective accumulation of the heat-shock protein hsc73. J. Cell Biol. 147, 599–610 (1999).
- 66. Lamparski H, Metha-Damani A, Yao J, et al. Production and characterization of clinical grade exosomes derived from dendritic cells. J Immunol Methods 2002; 270: 211–26.
- 67. Zitvogel L, Regnault A, Lozier A, Wolfers J, Flament C, Tenza D, Ricciardi-

Castagnoli P, Raposo G, Amigorena S.Eradication of established murine tumors using a novel cell-free vaccine: dendritic cell-derived exosomes. Nat Med. 1998 May;4(5):594-600.

- 68. Raposo, G. et al. B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. J. Exp. Med. 183, 1161–1172 (1996).
- 69. Escola JM, Kleijmeer MJ, Stoorvogel W, Griffith JM, Yoshie O, Geuze HJ. Selective enrichment of tetraspan proteins on the internal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes and on exosomes secreted by human B-lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 1998;273:20121–20127.
- Peters PJ, Borst J, Oorschot V, Fukuda M, Krahenbuhl O, Tschopp J, Slot JW, Geuze HJ. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes, containing both perform and granzymes. J Exp Med 1991;173:1099–1109.
- 71. Johnstone, R.M., Adam, M., Hammond, J.R., Orr, L., Turbide, C. (1987) Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). J Biol Chem 262, 9412-20.
- 72. Charrin, S., le Naour, F., Silvie, O., Milhiet, P.E., Boucheix, C. and Rubinstein, E. (2009) Lateral organization of membrane proteins: tetraspanins spin their web. Biochem. J. 420, 133–154
- 73. Hemler, M.E. (2005) Tetraspanin functions and associated microdomains. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6, 801-11.
- 74. Hemler, M.E. (2008) Targeting of tetraspanin proteins: potential benefits and strategies. Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery 7, 747–758
- 75. Zhang, J., Xue, R., Ong, W.Y. and Chen, P. (2009) Roles of cholesterol in vesicle fusion and motion. Biophys. J. 97, 1371–1380
- 76. Maecker, H.T., Todd, S.C. and Levy, S. (1997) The tetraspanin superfamily: molecular facilitators. FASEB J. 11, 428–442
- 77. Berditchevski, F. (2001) Complexes of tetraspanins with integrins: more than meets the eye. J. Cell Sci. 114, 4143–4151
- 78. Winterwood, N.E., Varzavand, A., Meland, M.N., Ashman, L.K. and Stipp, C.S. (2006) A critical role for tetraspanin CD151 in α3β1 and α6β4 integrindependent tumor cell functions on laminin-5. Mol. Biol. Cell 17, 2707–2721
- 79. Hasegawa, M., Furuya, M., Kasuya, Y., Nishiyama, M., Sugiura, T., Nikaido, T., Momota, Y., Ichinose, M. and Kimura, S. (2007) CD151 dynamics in carcinoma–stroma interaction: integrin expression, adhesion strength and proteolytic activity. Lab. Invest. 87, 882–892
- 80. Hemler, M.E. (2003) Tetraspanin proteins mediate cellular penetration, invasion, and fusion events and define a novel type of membrane microdomain. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 19, 397–422
- 81. Clayton, A., Turkes, A., Navabi, H., Mason, M.D., Tabi, Z. (2005) Induction of heat shock proteins in B-cell exosomes. J Cell Sci 118, 3631-8.
- 82. Srivastava, P. Interaction of heat-shock proteins with peptides and antigenpresenting cells: chaperoning of the innate and adaptive immune responses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 20, 395–425 (2002).
- 83. Wubbolts, R., Leckie, R.S., Veenhuizen, P.T., Schwarzmann, G., Mobius, W.,Hoernschemeyer, J., Slot, J.W., Geuze, H.J., Stoorvogel, W. (2003) Proteomic and biochemical analyses of human B cell-derived exosomes. Potential implications for their function and multivesicular body formation. J Biol Chem 278, 10963-72.
- 84. Clayton, A., Harris, C.L., Court, J., Mason, M.D., Morgan, B.P. (2003)

Antigen-presenting cell exosomes are protected from complement-mediated lysis by expression of CD55 and CD59. Eur J Immunol 33, 522-31

- 85. Stubbs, J. D. et al. cDNA cloning of a mouse mammary epithelial cell surface protein reveals the existence of epidermal growth factor-like domains linked to factor VIII-like sequences. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 87, 8417–8421 (1990).
- 86. A. Lakkaraju and E. Rodriguez-Boulan, Itinerant exosomes: emerging roles in cell and tissue polarity, *Trends Cell Biol* 18 (2008), pp. 199–209.
- 87. J.S. Schorey and S. Bhatnagar, Exosome function: from tumor immunology to pathogen biology, *Traffic* **9** (2008), pp. 871–881
- 88. G. van Niel, I. Porto-Carreiro, S. Simoes and G. Raposo, Exosomes: a common pathway for a specialized function, *J Biochem (Tokyo)* 140 (2006), pp. 13–21
- 89. Pan, B.T., Johnstone, R.M. (1983) Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: selective externalization of the receptor. Cell 33, 967-78.
- 90. Fevrier, B., and Raposo, G. (2004). Exosomes: endosomal-derived vesicles shipping extracellular messages. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 16, 415-21.
- 91. Admyre, C., Johansson, S.M., Staffan, P., and Gabrielsson, S. (2006). Direct exosome stimulation of peripheral human T cells detected by ELISPOT. European Journal of Immunology 36, 1772-81.
- 92. Clayton, A., Turkes, A., Dewitt, S., Steadman, R. et al. (2004). Adhesion and signaling by B cell-derived exosomes: the role of integrins. FASEB J 18, 977-9.
- 93. Denzer, K., Van Eijk, M., Kleijmeer, M.J., Jakobson, E. et al. (2000). Follicular dendritic cells carry MHC class II-expressing microvesicles at their surface. Journal of Immunology 165, 1259-65.
- 94. Morelli, A.E., Larregina, A.T., Shufesky, W.J., Sullivan, M.L. et al. (2004). Endocytosis, Intracellular Sorting and Processing of Exosomes by Dendritic Cells. Blood, 2004-03-0824.
- 95. Rieu, S., Geminard, C., Rabesandratana, H., Sainte-Marie, J., Vidal, M. (2000) Exosomes released during reticulocyte maturation bind to fibronectin via integrin alpha4beta1. Eur J Biochem 267, 583-90.
- 96. Karlsson, M., Lundin, S., Dahlgren, U., Kahu, H. et al., "Tolerosomes" are produced by intestinal epithelial cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 2001, 31, 2892–2900.
- 97. H. Peinado, S. Lavotshkin, and D. Lyden, "The secreted factors responsible for pre-metastatic niche formation: old sayings and new thoughts," *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 139–146, 2011
- 98. R. Nieuwland, J. A.M. Van Der Post, C. A.R. Lok Gemma, G. Kenter, and A. Sturk, "Microparticles and exosomesin gynecologic neoplasias," *Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 925–929, 2010.
- 99. A. Stoeck, S. Keller, S. Riedle et al., "A role for exosomes in the constitutive and stimulus-induced ectodomain cleavage of L1 and CD44," *Biochemical Journal*, vol. 393, no. 3, pp. 609–618, 2006.
- 100. S. Khan, J. R. Aspe, M. G. Asumen et al., "Extracellular, cell-permeable survivin inhibits apoptosis while promoting proliferative and metastatic potential," *British Journal of Cancer*, vol. 100, no. 7, pp. 1073–1086, 2009.
- 101. J. Webber, R. Steadman, M. D. Mason, Z. Tabi, and A. Clayton, "Cancer

exosomes trigger fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation," *Cancer Research*, vol. 70, no. 23, pp. 9621–9630, 2010

- 102. G. Andreola, L. Rivoltini, C. Castelli et al., "Induction of lymphocyte apoptosis by tumor cell secretion of FasL bearing microvesicles," *Journal of ExperimentalMedicine*, vol.195, no. 10, pp. 1303–1316, 2002.
- 103. V. Huber, S. Fais, M. Iero et al., "Human colorectal cancer cells induce Tcell death through release of proapoptotic microvesicles: role in immune escape," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 128, no. 7, pp. 1796–1804, 2005.
- 104. D. D. Taylor, C. Gercel-Taylor, K. S. Lyons, J. Stanson, and T. L. Whiteside, "T-Cell apoptosis and suppression of T-Cell receptor/CD3-ζ by fas ligand-containing membrane vesicles shed from ovarian tumors," *Clinical Cancer Research*, vol. 9,no. 14, pp. 5113–5119, 2003
- 105. A. Clayton and Z. Tabi, "Exosomes and the MICA-NKG2D system in cancer," *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 206–213, 2005
- 106. A. Clayton, J. P. Mitchell, J. Court, S. Linnane, M. D. Mason, and Z. Tabi, "Human tumor-derived exosomes downmodulate NKG2D expression," *Journal of Immunology*, vol.180, no. 11, pp. 7249–7258, 2008.
- 107. C. Liu, S. Yu, K. Zinn et al., "Murine mammary carcinoma exosomes promote tumor growth by suppression of NK cell function," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 176, no. 3, pp. 1375–1385, 2006.
- A. Clayton, J. P. Mitchell, J. Court, M. D. Mason, and Z. Tabi, "Human tumor-derived exosomes selectively impair lymphocyte responses to interleukin-2," *Cancer Research*, vol.67, no. 15, pp. 7458–7466, 2007
- 109. M. Szajnik, M. Czystowska, M. J. Szczepanski, M. Mandapathil, and T. L. Whiteside, "Tumor-derived microvesicles induce, expand and up-regulate biological activities of human regulatory T cells (Treg)," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 5, no. 7, Article ID e11469, 2010.
- 110. A. Zomer, T. Vendrig, E. S. Hopmans, M. van Eijndhoven, J. M. Middeldorp, and D. M. Pegtel, "Exosomes: fit to deliver small RNA," *Communicative & Integrative Biology*, vol. 3, pp. 447–450, 2010.
- 111. Valadi, H., Ekstrom, K., Bossios, A., Sjostrand, M. *et al.*, Exosomemediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat.Cell Biol.* 2007, *9*, 654–659.
- 112. F. Andre, N. E. C. Schartz, M. Movassagh et al., "Malignant effusions and immunogenic tumour-derived exosomes,"*Lancet*, vol. 360, no. 9329, pp. 295–305, 2002.
- 113. S. Dai, T. Wan, B. Wang et al., "More efficient induction of HLA-A*0201-restricted and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) - Specific CTL response by immunization with exosomes prepared from heat-stressed CEApositive tumor cells," *Clinical Cancer Research*, vol. 11, no. 20, pp. 7554– 7563, 2005.
- 114. Wolfers J, Lozier A, Raposo G, Regnault A, Thery C, Masurier C, Flament C, Pouzieux S, Faure F, Tursz T, Angevin E, Amigorena S, Zitvogel L. Tumor-derived exosomes are a source of shared tumorrejection antigens for CTL cross-priming. Nat Med 2001;7:297–303.
- 115. Chen W, Wang J, Shao C, *et al.* Efficient induction of antitumor T cell immunity by exosomes derived from heat-shocked lymphoma cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2006;36:1598–607
- 116. Baj-Krzyworzeka, M., Szatanek, R., Weglarczyk, K., Baran, J. &

Zembala, M. Tumour-derived microvesicles modulate biological activity of human monocytes.*Immunol. Lett.* 113, 76–82 (2007).

- 117. Sprague, D. L. *et al.* Platelet-mediated modulation of adaptive immunity: unique delivery of CD154 signal by platelet-derived membrane vesicles. *Blood* 111,5028–5036 (2008).
- Simhadri, V. R. *et al.* Dendritic cells release HLA-Bassociated transcript-3 positive exosomes to regulate natural killer function. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3377 (2008).
- Viaud, S. *et al.* Dendritic cell-derived exosomes promote natural killer cell activation and proliferation: a role for NKG2D ligands and IL-15Rα. *PLoS ONE* 4,e4942 (2009).
- 120. E. Ristorcelli, E. Beraud, P. Verrando et al., "Human tumor nanoparticles induce apoptosis of pancreatic cancer cells,"*FASEB Journal*, vol. 22, no. 9, pp. 3358–3369, 2008.
- 121. Pant S, et al. The multifaceted exosome: Biogenesis, role in normal and aberrant cellular function, and frontiers for pharmacological and biomarker opportunities. Biochem Pharmacol (2012)
- 122. J. P. J. J. Hegmans, M. P. L. Bard, A. Hemmes et al., "Proteomic Analysis of Exosomes Secreted by Human Mesothelioma Cells," *American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 164, no. 5, pp. 1807–1815, 2004.
- 123. J. L. Hood, H. Pan, G. M. Lanza, and S. A. Wickline, "Paracrine induction of endothelium by tumor exosomes," Laboratory Investigation, vol. 89, no. 11, pp. 1317–1328, 2009
- Gesierich S, Berezovskiy I, Ryschich E, Zjller M. Systemic induction of the angiogenesis switch by the tetraspanin D61A/CO-029. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 7083–7094
- 125. Nazarenko I, Rana S, Baumann A, McAlear J, Hellwig A, Trendelenburg M, et al. Cell surface tetraspanin Tspan8 contributes to molecular pathways of exosomeinduced endothelial cell activation. Cancer Res 2010;70:1668–78
- 126. Skog J, Wu¨rdinger T, van Rijn S, Meijer DH, Gainche L, Sena-Esteves M, Curry WT Jr., Carter BS, Krichevsky AM, Breakefield XO. Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2008;10:1470–1476.
- 127. Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ. Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Science. 1999;284(5415): 770-776.
- 128. Phng LK, Gerhardt H. Angiogenesis: a team effort coordinated by notch. Dev Cell. 2009;16(2):196-208
- 129. Gale NW, Dominguez MG, Noguera I, et al. Haploinsufficiencyof deltalike 4 ligand results in embryonic lethality due to major defects in arterial and vascular development. Proc Natl Acad SciU S A. 2004;101(45):15949-15954.
- 130. H. Sheldon, E. Heikamp, H. Turley et al., "New mechanism for Notch signaling to endothelium at a distance by delta-like 4 incorporation into exosomes," *Blood*, vol. 116, no. 13, pp.2385–2394, 2010.
- 131. Taraboletti G, D'Ascenzo S, Borsotti P, Giavazzi R, Pavan A, Dolo V. Shedding of the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2, MMP-9, and MT1-MMP as membrane vesicle-associated components by endothelial cells. *Am J Pathol.* 2002;160:673–680.
- 132. Admyre, C., J. Grunewald, J. Thyberg, S. Gripenback, G. Tornling, A.

Eklund, A. Scheynius, and S. Gabrielsson. 2003. Exosomes with major histocompatibility complex class II and co-stimulatory molecules are present in human BAL fluid. Eur. Respir. J. 22: 578–583.

- 133. Bard MP, Hegmans JP, Hemmes A et al. Proteomic analysis of exosomes isolated from human malignant pleural effusions. Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 31(1), 114–121 (2004)
- 134. Admyre C, Johansson SM, Qazi KR et al.Exosomes with immune modulatory features are present in human breast milk.J. Immunol. 179(3), 1969–1978 (2007).
- 135. Gonzalez-Begne M, Lu B, Han X et al. Proteomic analysis of human parotid gland exosomes by multidimensional protein identification technology (MudPIT). J. Proteome Res. 8(3),1304–1314 (2009).
- Skriner K, Adolph K, Jungblut PR,Burmester GR. Association of citrullinated proteins with synovial exosomes. Arthritis Rheum. 54(12), 3809–3814 (2006).
- 137. Meyer T, Rustin GJ. Role of tumor markers in monitoring epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer, 2000, 2(9):1535-1538
- 138. Rabinowits G, Gercel-Taylor C, Day JM, Taylor DD, and Kloecker GH. Exosomal microRNA: a diagnostic marker for lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2009;10:42-46.
- 139. Carsberg C, Myers K, Evans G, Allen T, Stern P: Metastasis-associated 5T4 oncofoetal antigen is concentrated at microvillus projections of the plasma membrane. J Cell Sci 1995, 108:2905-2916.
- 140. Nilsson J, Skog J, Nordstrand A, Baranov V, Mincheva-Nilsson L, Breakefield XO, and Widmark A. Prostate cancer-derived urine exosomes: a novel approach to biomarkers for prostate cancer. Br J Cancer 2009;100:1603-1607
- 141. Zhou H, Pisitkun T, Aponte A, Yuen PST, Hoffert JD, Yasuda H, Hu X, Chawla L, Shen R-F, Knepper MA, Star RA: Exosomal Fetuin-A identified by proteomics: A novel urinary biomarker for detecting acute kidney injury. 2006, 70:1847-1857.
- 142. Ambros V. microRNAs: tiny regulators with great potential. Cell 107 (7), 823-826 (2001)
- 143. Esquela-Kerscher A, Slack FJ. Oncomirs-microRNAs with a role in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 6 (4), 259-269 (2006)
- 144. Hao S, Bai O, Li F, Yuan J, Laferte S, Xiang J. Mature dendritic cells pulsed with exosomes stimulate efficient cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and antitumour immunity. Immunology 2007;120:90–102.
- 145. Chaput, N., N. E. Schartz, F. Andre, J. Taieb, S. Novault, P. Bonnaventure, N. Aubert, J. Bernard, F. Lemonnier, M. Merad, G. Adema, M. Adams, M. Ferrantini, A. F. Carpentier, B. Escudier, T. Tursz, E. Angevin, and L. Zitvogel. 2004. Exosomes as potent cell-free peptide-based vaccine. II. Exosomes in CpG adjuvants efficiently prime naive Tc1 lymphocytes leading to tumor rejection. J Immunol 172:2137-2146
- 146. Andre F, Chaput N, Schartz NE, et al. Exosomes as potent cell-free peptide-based vaccine. I. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes transfer functional MHC class I/peptide complexes to dendritic cells. *J Immunol*. 2004;172(4):2126–2136.
- 147. Beauvillain C, Ruiz S, Guiton R, Bout D, Dimier-Poisson I. A vaccine based on exosomes secreted by a dendritic cell line confers protection

against T. gondii infection in syngeneic and allogeneic mice. *Microbes Infect*. 2007;9(14–15):1614–1622.

- 148. Leboulaire, C. Borg, S. Amigorena, C. Boccaccio, C. Bonnerot, O. Dhellin, M. Movassagh, S. Piperno, C. Robert, V. Serra, N. Valente, J. B. Le Pecq, A. Spatz, O. Lantz, T. Tursz, E. Angevin, and L. Zitvogel. 2005. Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous dendritic cell (DC) derived-exosomes: results of thefirst phase I clinical trial. *J Transl Med* 3:10.
- 149. Morse, M. A., J. Garst, T. Osada, S. Khan, A. Hobeika, T. M. Clay, N. Valente, R. Shreeniwas, M. A. Sutton, A. Delcayre, D. H. Hsu, J. B. Le Pecq, and H. K. Lyerly. 2005. A phase I study of dexosome immunotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *J Transl Med* 3:9.
- 150. Mignot G, Roux S, Thery C, Segura E, Zitvogel L. Prospects for exosomes in immunotherapy of cancer. 2006 J Cell Mol Med 10: 376-88
- 151. Segura, E., Amigorena, S., and Thery, C. (2005). Mature dendritic cells secrete exosomes with strong ability to induce antigen-specific effector immune responses. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases *35*,89-93
- 152. Xiu F, Cai Z, Yang Y, Wang X, Wang J, Cao X. Surface anchorage of superantigen SEA promotes induction of specific antitumor immune response by tumor-derived exosomes. *J Mol Med.* 2007;85(5):511–521.
- 153. de La Pena H, Madrigal JA, Rusakiewicz S, et al. Artificial exosomes as tools for basic and clinical immunology. J Immunol Methods. 2009;344(2):121–132
- 154. Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol 2002; Nov;3(11):991-8.
- 155. Dunn, G.P., L.J. Old, and R.D. Schreiber. 2004. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. Immunity 21:137-148.
- 156. Ljunggren HG, Karre K. Host resistance directed selectively against H-2deficient lymphoma variants. Analysis of the mechanism. J.Exp.Med. 1985;162:1745-1759.
- 157. Groh V, Rhinehart R, Secrist H et al. Broad tumor-associated expression and recognition by tumor-derived gamma delta T cells of MICA and MICB. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 1999;96:6879-6884.
- 158. Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu.Rev.Immunol. 2000;18:767-811
- 159. So T, Takenoyama M, Mizukami M et al. Haplotype loss of HLA class I antigen as an escape mechanism from immune attack in lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2005;65:5945-5952.
- 160. Atkins D, Breuckmann A, Schmahl GE et al. MHC class I antigen processing pathway defects, ras mutations and disease stage in colorectal carcinoma. Int.J.Cancer. 2004;109:265-273.
- 161. Urosevic M, Dummer R. Human leukocyte antigen-G and cancer immunoediting. Cancer Res.2008;68:627-630
- 162. Whiteside TL. The role of death receptor ligands in shaping tumor microenvironment. Immunol.Invest. 2007;36:25-46.
- 163. Cillessen SA, Hess CJ, Hooijberg E et al. Inhibition of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway downstream of caspase-9 activation causes chemotherapy resistance in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Clin.Cancer Res. 2007;13:7012-7021.

- 164. Tamm I, Richter S, Oltersdorf D et al. High expression levels of x-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein and survivin correlate with poor overall survival in childhood de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Clin.Cancer Res. 2004;10:3737-3744.
- 165. Medema JP, de JJ, Peltenburg LT et al. Blockade of the granzyme B/perforin pathway through overexpression of the serine protease inhibitor PI-9/SPI-6 constitutes a mechanism for immune escape by tumors. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 2001;98:11515-11520.
- 166. Gajewski TF, Meng Y, Harlin H. Immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. J.Immunother. 2006;29:233-240.
- 167. Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Theate I et al. Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Nat.Med. 2003;9:1269-1274.
- 168. Taylor DD, Gerçel–Taylor C. Tumour-derived exosomes and their role in cancer-associated T-cell signalling defects. *Br J Cancer* 2005;92:305–11.
- 169. Söderberg A, Barral AM, Söderström M, Sander B, Rosén A. Redoxsignaling transmitted in trans to neighboring cells by melanoma-derived tnfcontaining exosomes. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2007;43:90–9.
- 170. Liu C, Yu S, Zinn K, *et al.* Murine mammary carcinoma exosomes promote tumor growth by suppression of nk cell function. *J Immunol* 2006;176:1375–85.
- 171. Ashiru O, Boutet P, Fernandez-Messina L, Aguera-Gonzalez S, Skepper JN, Vales-Gomez M, et al. Natural killer cell cytotoxicity is suppressed by exposure to the human NKG2D ligand MICA*008 that is shed by tumor cells in exosomes. Cancer Res 2010;70:481–9.
- 172. Valenti R, Huber V, Filipazzi P, Pilla L, Sovena G, Villa A, et al. Human tumor released microvesicles promote the differentiation of myeloid cells with transforming growth factor-beta-mediated suppressive activity on T lymphocytes. Cancer Res 2006;66:9290–8.
- Xiang X, Poliakov A, Liu C, Liu Y, Deng ZB, Wang J, et al. Induction of myeloid derived suppressor cells by tumor exosomes. Int J Cancer 2009;124:2621–33.
- 174. Parker CM, Groh V, Band H, Porcelli SA, Morita C, Fabbi M, Glass D, Strominger JL, Brenner MB. Evidence for extrathymic changes in the T cell receptor gamma/delta repertoire. J Exp Med 1990;171:1597-1612
- 175. Hayday A. Gamma delta T cells: a right time and a right place for a conserved third way of protection. Annu Rev Immunol 2000; 18: 975–1026.
- 176. Dieli, F.; Poccia, F.; Lipp, M.; Sireci, G.; Caccamo, N.; Di Sano, C.; Salerno, A. Differentiation of effector/memory Vδ2 T cells and migratory routes in lymph nodes or inflammatory sites. *J. Exp.Med.* 2003, *198*, 391-397.
- 177. Caccamo, N.; Meraviglia, S.; Ferlazzo, V.; Angelini, D.; Borsellino, G.; Poccia, F.; Battistini, L.; Dieli, F.; Salerno, A. Differential requirements for antigen or homeostatic cytokines for proliferation and differentiation of human Vγ9Vδ2 naive, memory and effector T cell subsets. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2005, 35, 1764-1772
- 178. Tanaka Y, Morita CT, Tanaka Y, Nieves E, Brenner MB, Bloom BR. Natural and synthetic non-peptide antigens recognized by human gamma delta T cells. Nature 1995; 375: 155-8.
- 179. Bukowski JF, Morita CT, Brenner MB. Human gamma delta T cells

recognize alkylamines derived from microbes, edible plants, and tea: implications for innate immunity. Immunity 1999; 11: 57-65

- 180. Das H, Wang L, Kamath A, Bukowski JF. Vgamma2Vdelta2 T-cell receptor-mediated recognition of aminobisphosphonates. Blood 2001; 98: 1616-8
- 181. Kunzmann V, Bauer E, Wilhelm M. Gamma/delta T-cell stimulation by pamidronate [letter]. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 737–8
- 182. Altincicek, B., Moll, J., Campos, N., Foerster, G., Beck, E., Hoe¥er, J.F., Grosdemange-Billiard, C., Rodr|"guez-Concepcio"n, M., Rohmer, M., Boronat, A., Eberl, M. and Jomaa, H. (2001) J. Immunol. 166, 3655^3658.
- 183. Jomaa, H., Wiesner, J., Sanderbrand, S., Altincicek, B., Weidemeyer, C., Hintz, M., Turbachova, I., Eberl, M., Zeidler, J., Lichtenthaler, H.K., Soldati, D. and Beck, E. (1999) Science 285, 1573^1576.
- 184. Eberl M, Moser B. Monocytes and $\gamma\delta$ T cells: close encounters in microbial infection. *Trends Immunol.* 2009;30(12):562-8.
- 185. Gober HJ, Kistowska M, Angman L, Jeno P, Mori L, De Libero G. Human T cell receptor gammadelta cells recognize endogenous mevalonate metabolites in tumor cells. J Exp Med. 2003; 197: 163-8
- 186. Harwood HJ Jr, Alvarez IM, Noyes WD, Stacpoole PW. In vivo regulation of human leukocyte 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase: increased enzyme protein concentration and catalytic efficiency in human leukemia and lymphoma. J Lipid Res. 1991; 32: 1237-52
- 187. Sturm E, Braakman E, Fisch P, Sondel PM, Bolhuis RLDaudi cell specificity correlates with the use of a V gamma 9-V delta 2 encoded TCR gamma delta.Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 1991; 173: 183-8
- 188. Selin LK, Stewart S, Shen C, Mao HQ, Wilkins JA. Reactivity of gamma delta T cells induced by the tumour cell line RPMI 8226: functional heterogeneity of clonal populations and role of GroEL heat shock proteins. Scand J Immunol. 1992; 36:107-17
- 189. Kabelitz D, Wesch D, Pitters E, Zoller M. Potential of human gammadelta T lymphocytes for immunotherapy of cancer. Int J Cancer. 2004; 112:727-32
- 190. Wrobel P, Shojaei H, Schittek B, Gieseler F, Wollenberg B, Kalthoff H, Kabelitz D, Wesch D. Lysis of a broad range of epithelial tumour cells by human $\gamma\delta$ T cells:involvement of NKG2D ligands and T-cell receptor- versus NKG2Ddependent recognition. Scand JImmunol. 2007;66(2-3):320-8.
- 191. Moser B, Eberl M. $\gamma\delta$ T cells: novel initiators of adaptive immunity. *Immunol Rev.* 2007;215:89-102.
- 192. Brandes M, Willimann K, Moser B. Professional antigen-presentation function by human $\gamma\delta$ T Cells.*Science*. 2005;309(5732):252-3.
- 193. Fleisch H. Development of bisphosphonates. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2002;4(1):30-4.
- 194. Frith JC, Mönkkönen J, Auriola S, Mönkkönen H, Rogers MJ. The molecular Mechanism of action of the antiresorptive and anti-inflammatory drug clodronate: Evidence for the formation *in vivo* of a metabolite that inhibits bone resorption and causes osteoclast and macrophage apoptosis. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 44: 2201-10.
- 195. Luckman SP, Hughes DE, Coxon FP, Graham R, Russell G, Rogers MJ. Nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates inhibit the mevalonate pathway and prevent post-translational prenylation of GTP-binding proteins, including

Ras. J Bone Miner Res. 1998 Apr;13(4):581-9.

- 196. Rondeau JM, Bitsch F, Bourgier E, Geiser M, Hemmig R, Kroemer M, Lehmann S, Ramage P, Rieffel S, Strauss A, Green JR, Jahnke W. Structural basis for the exceptional in vivo efficacy of bisphosphonate drugs. *ChemMedChem*. 2006 Feb;1(2):267-73
- 197. Mönkkönen H, Auriola S, Lehenkari P, Kellinsalmi M, Hassinen IE, Vepsäläinen J, Mönkkönen J. A new endogenous ATP analog (ApppI) inhibits the mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT) and is responsible for the apoptosis induced by nitrogencontaining bisphosphonates. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2006 Feb;147(4):437-45.
- 198. Räikkönen J, Crockett JC, Rogers MJ, Mönkkönen H, Auriola S, Mönkkönen J. Zoledronic acid induces formation of a pro-apoptotic ATP analogue and isopentenyl pyrophosphate in osteoclasts in vivo and in MCF-7 cells in vitro. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2009 Jun;157(3):427-35
- 199. Lipton, A.; Zheng, M.; Seaman, J. Zoledronic acid delays the onset of skeletal-related events and progression of skeletal disease in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer* 2003, *98*, 962-969
- 200. Saad, F.; Gleason, D. M.; Murray, R.; Tchekmedyian, S.; Venner, P.; Lacombe, L.; Chin, J. L.; Vinholes, J. J.; Goas, J. A.; Zheng, M.; Murray, R. Long-term efficacy of zoledronic acid for the prevention of skeletal complications in patients with metastatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 2004, *96*,879-882.
- 201. Hillner, B. E.; Ingle, J. N.; Chlebowski, R. T.; Gralow, J.; Yee, G. C.; Janjan, N. A.; Cauley, J. A.; Blumenstein, B. A.; Albain, K. S.; Lipton, A.; Brown, S. American Society of Clinical Oncology 2003 update on the role of bisphosphonates and bone health issues in women with breast cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 2003, 21, 4042-4057
- 202. Caccamo N, Meraviglia S, Scarpa F, La Mendola C, Santini D, Bonanno CT, Misiano G, Dieli F, Salerno A. Aminobisphosphonate-activated gamma delta T cells in immunotherapy of cancer: doubts no more. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*. 2008 Jul;8(7):875-83.
- 203. Morita CT, Jin C, Sarikonda G, Wang H. Nonpeptide antigens, presentation mechanisms, and immunological memory of human Vgamma2Vdelta2 T cells: discriminating friend from foe through the recognition of prenyl pyrophosphate antigens. *Immunol Rev*.2007 Feb;215:59-76.
- 204. Mattarollo, S. R., T. Kenna, M. Nieda, and A. J. Nicol. 2007. Chemotherapy and zoledronate sensitize solid tumour cells to Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cell cytotoxicity. Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 56: 1285–1297
- 205. Segawa, H., S. Kimura, J. Kuroda, K. Sato, A. Yokota, E. Kawata, Y. Kamitsuji, E. Ashihara, T. Yuasa, Y. Fujiyama, et al. 2005. Zoledronate synergises with imatinib mesylate to inhibit Ph primary leukaemic cell growth. Br. J. Haematol.130: 558–560.
- 206. Kuroda, J., S. Kimura, H. Segawa, Y. Kobayashi, T. Yoshikawa, Y. Urasaki, T. Ueda, F. Enjo, H. Tokuda, O. G. Ottmann, and T. Maekawa. 2003. The third generation bisphosphonate zoledronate synergistically augments the anti-Ph+ leukemia activity of imatinib mesylate. Blood 102: 2229–2235.
- 207. Chuah, C., D. J. Barnes, M. Kwok, A. Corbin, M. W. Deininger, B. J. Druker, and J. V. Melo. 2005. Zoledronate inhibits proliferation and induces

apoptosis of imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia cells. Leukemia 19: 1896–1904.

- 208. D'Asaro M, La Mendola C, Di Liberto D, Orlando V, Todaro M, Spina M, Guggino G, Meraviglia S, Caccamo N, Messina A, Salerno A, Di Raimondo F, Vigneri P, Stassi G, Fourniè JJ, Dieli F. V gamma 9V delta 2 T lymphocytes efficiently recognize and kill zoledronate-sensitized, imatinib-sensitive, and imatinib-resistant chronic myelogenous leukemia cells. J Immunol. 2010 Mar 15;184(6):3260-8
- 209. Murti KG, Brown PS, Kumagai M, Campana D. Molecular interaction between human pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukemic cells and the bone marrow stromal cell microenvironment. Blood 1998;92:3817-3828
- 210. Leis JF, Primack SL, Schubach SE, Curtin PT, Druker BJ, Maziarz RT. Management of life-threatening pulmonary leukostasis with single agent imatinib mesylate during CML myeloid blast crisis. Haematologica 2004;89:ECR30.
- 211. Cavenagh JD, Gordon-Smith EC, Gibson FM, Gordon MY. Acute myeloid leukaemia blast cells bind to human endothelium in vitro utilizing E-selectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1). Br J Haematol 1993;85:285–91
- 212. Harada, A., Sekido, N., Akahoshi, T., Wada, T., Mukaida, N., and Matsushima, K. (1994) Essential involvement of interleukin-8 (IL-8) in acute infl ammation. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **56**, 559–564.
- 213. Strieter, R.M. (2001) Chemokines: Not just leukocyte chemoattractants in the promotion of cancer. *Nat. Immunol.* **2**, 285–286.
- Koch, A. E., P. J. Polverini, S. L. Kunkel, L. A. Harlow, L. A. DiPietro, V. M. Elner, S. G. Elner, and R. M. Strieter. 1992. Interleukin-8 as a macrophagederived mediator of angiogenesis. *Science* 258:1798.
- 215. David J.J. Waugh and Catherine Wilson. The Interleukin-8 Pathway in Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 2008;14:6735-6741
- 216. Faderl S, Do K, Johnson MM, Keating M, O'brien S, Jilani I, Ferrajoli A, Ravandi-Kashani F, Aguilar C, Dey A, Thomas DA, Giles FJ, KantarjianHM,Albitar M. Angiogenic factors may have a different prognostic role in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood 2005;106:4303–4307
- 217. WierdaWG,JohnsonMM,DoKA,ManshouriT,DeyA, O'Brien S, Giles FJ, Kantarjian H, Thomas , Faderl S, Lerner S, Keating M, AlbitarM. Plasma interleukin 8 level predicts for survival in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2003;120:452–456.
- 218. Sillaber C, Mayerhofer M, Aichberger KJ, Krauth M, Valent P. Expression of angiogenic factors in chronic myeloid leukaemia: role of the bcr/abl oncogene, biochemical mechanisms, and potential clinical implications. Eur J Clin Invest 2004;34 (Suppl 2):2–11.
- 219. Springer, T.A. (1994). Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: The multistep paradigm. Cell, 76, 301 ± 314 .
- 220. Ali, J. et al. (1997) Vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-Cadherin):cloning and role in endothelial cell–cell adhesion. Microcirculation 4, 267–277
- 221. Lampugnani, M.G. et al. (1992) A novel endothelial-specificmembrane protein is a marker of cell–cell contacts. J. Cell Biol. 118, 1511–1522
- 222. Dejana, E. et al. (1995) Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions. FASEB J. 9, 910–918

- 223. Cai J, Jiang W, Mansel R. Inhibition of the expression of VEcadherin/catenin complex by gamma linolenic acid in human vascular endothelial cells, and its impact on angiogenesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999;258:113–18.
- 224. Hussong JW, Rodgers GM, Shami PJ. Evidence of increased angiogenesis in patients with acute myeloid leukaemia. Blood 2000; 95 (1):309-313
- 225. Perez-Atayde AR, Sallan SE, Tedrow U, Connors S, Allred E, Folkman J. Spectrum of Tumor Angiogenesis in the Bone Marrow of Children with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. American Journal of Pathology, 1997 (150):815-821
- 226. Kvasnicka HM, Thiele J, Staib P, Schmitt-Graeff A, Griesshammer M, Klose J, Engels K, Kriener S. Reversal of bone marrow angiogenesis in chronic myeloid leukaemia following imatinib mesylate (STI571) therapy. Blood 2004;103:3549–51.
- 227. Hong BS, Cho JH, KimH, Choi EJ, Rho S, Kim J, Kim JH, Choi DS, Kim YK, Hwang D, Gho YS. Colorectal cancer cell-derived microvesicles are enriched in cell cycle-related mRNAs that promote proliferation of endothelial cells. BMC Genomics 2009;10:556.
- 228. Sebolt-Leopold JS, Herrera R. Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2004;4:937–47.
- 229. Jiang BH, Liu LZ. PI3K/PTEN signaling in angiogenesis and tumorigenesis. Adv Cancer Res 2009;102:19–65.
- 230. Milanini J, Vinals F, Pouyssegur J, Pages G. p42/p44 MAP kinase module plays a key role in the transcriptional regulation of the vascular endothelial growthfactor gene in fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:18165–72.
- 231. Petit AM, Rak J, Hung MC, et al. Neutralizing antibodies against epidermal growthfactor and ErbB- 2/neu receptor tyrosine kinases down-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor production by tumor cells in vitro and in vivo: angiogenic implications for signal transduction therapy of solid tumors. Am J Pathol 1997;151:1523–30
- 232. Clayton A, Mason MD (2009) Exosomes in tumor immunity. Curr Oncol 16:46–49.
- 233. Szczepanski MJ, Szajnik M, Welsh A, Whiteside T, Boyiadzis M. Blastderived microvesicles in sera from patients with acute myeloid leukaemia suppress natural killer cell function via membrane-associated transforming growth factor-β1. Haematologica 2011; 96(9):1302-9
- 234. Wu, J. D., L. M. Higgins, A. Steinle, D. Cosman, K. Haugk, and S. R. Plymate. 2004. Prevalent expression of the immunostimulatory MHC class I chain-related molecule is counteracted by shedding in prostate cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 114:560–568.
- 235. Smyth, M. J., J. Swann, E. Cretney, N. Zerafa, W. M. Yokoyama, and Y. Hayakawa. 2005. NKG2D function protects the host from tumor initiation. J. Exp. Med. 202: 583–588.
- 236. Gasser, S., S. Orsulic, E. J. Brown, and D. H. Raulet. 2005. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. *Nature* 436: 1186–1190.
- 237. Westwood, J. A., J. M. Kelly, J. E. Tanner, M. H. Kershaw, M. J. Smyth, and Y. Hayakawa. 2004. Cutting edge: novel priming of tumor-specific immunity by NKG2D-triggered NK cell-mediated tumor rejection and Th1-

independent CD4+ T cell pathway. J. Immunol. 172: 757–761.

- Corvaisier, M., A. Moreau-Aubry, E. Diez, J. Bennouna, J.-F. Mosnier, E. Scotet, M. Bonneville, and F. Jotereau. 2005. Vγ9Vδ2 T cell response to colon carcinoma cells. J. Immunol. 175: 5481–5488.
- 239. Karimi, M., T. M. Cao, J. A. Baker, M. R. Verneris, L. Soares, and R. S. Negrin. 2005. Silencing human NKG2D, DAP10, and DAP12 reduces cytotoxicity of activated CD8+ T cells and NK cells. J. Immunol. 175: 7819–7828.
- 240. Boissel N, Rea D, Tieng V, Dulphy N, Brun M, Cayuela JM, Rousselot P, Tamouza R, Le Bouteiller P, Mahon FX, Steinle A, Charron D, Dombret H, Toubert A. BCR/ABL Oncogene Directly Controls MHC Class I Chain-Related Molecule A expression in ChronicMyelogenous Leukemia. The Journal of Immunology, 2006, 176: 5108–5116.
- 241. Thèry C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatans and biological fluids. Curr Protoc Cell Biol 2006, chapter3:unit 3.22
- 242. Rodriguez LG, Wu X, Guan JL. Woundhealing assay. Methods Mol Biol 2005;294:23–9.
- 243. Taverna S, Flugy A, Colomba P, Barranca M, De Leo G, Alessandro R. Effects of Parietaria judaica pollen extract on human microvascular endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008;372:644–9.
- 244. Wysoczynski M, Ratajczak M. Lung cancer secreted microvesicles: underappreciated modulators of microenvironment in expanding tumors. Int J Cancer 2009;125:1595–603.